June 2019

A Second Revolution

Thirty years of child rights, and the unfinished agenda





Y Save the Children

SOS CHILDREN'S VILLAGES INTERNATIONAL

Terre des Hommes International Federation

CHILD RIGHTS

World Vision

Published by Child Rights Now!, an initiative from Joining Forces Joining Forces is an alliance of the six largest international NGOs working with and for children under the age of 18 to secure their rights and end violence against them.

Hosted by Plan International Global Hub Dukes Court, Block A Duke Street Woking, Surrey GU21 5BH, United Kingdom

child-rights-now.org

First published 2019 © Joining Forces This publication is copyright, but may be reproduced by any method without fee or prior permission for teaching purposes, but not for resale. For copying in any other circumstances, prior written permission must be obtained from the publisher, and a fee may be payable.

Typeset by Educo

Cover photograph ©Jesper Milner Henriksen, Plan International

Acknowledgements

This report is the result of a joint effort between six child-focused international civil society organisations, who wanted to use the 30th anniversary of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child to take stock of progress towards realising children's rights, and respond to the unfinished agenda.

The project originated in a joint discussion in 2017, supported by the Rockefeller Foundation, that led to the 'Joining Forces' collaboration between ChildFund Alliance, Plan International, Save the Children International, SOS Children's Villages International, Terre des Hommes International Federation, and World Vision International. Joining Forces currently focuses on two workstreams: Child Rights Now!, of which this report is a part, and Ending Violence Against Children.

The report was co-authored by independent consultants Claire O'Kane and Annabel Trapp, and by Patrick Watt from Save the Children and Richard Morgan from Plan International. A large number of other colleagues, too numerous to be all mentioned by name, have contributed. Particular thanks are due to Ulrika Cilliers, Beck Smith, Oliver Fiala, Davinia Ovett Bondi, Laila Khondkar and Deanna Duplessis at Save the Children; to Flore-Anne Bourgeois Prieur and Jennifer Klot at Plan International; Arelys Bellorini, Constanza Martinez, Tamara Tutnjevic and Lyndsay Hockin at World Vision; Laura Chello, and Jonas Schubert at Terre des Hommes; Meg Gardinier, Keoamphone Souvannaphoum and Larissa Tuohy at ChildFund; and Sofia Garcia Garcia and Valerie Jans, at SOS Children's Villages International. The Joining Forces Secretariat of Siân Platt and Chloé Geoghegan, hosted by Plan International, played an invaluable role in shepherding the process from concept to completion.

The Child Rights Now! Steering Group – Patrick Watt, Sean Maguire, Charles Badenoch, Daniela Buzducea, Sofia Garcia Garcia, Eylah Kadjar, and Yukiko Yamada – were critical in driving forward the project. Tenille Bergin at World Vision and Katrina Kyselytzia at Save the Children managed the report production. Thanks also to Elodia Giménez and Elena Martí from Educo Head Office in Barcelona and Vanessa de Chorro and Luis Portillo from the El Salvador Office of Educo, who managed the design, and to Elisabeth Schmidt-Hieber of SOS Children's Villages and Eylah Kadjar of Terre des Hommes for overseeing the French and Spanish translations respectively.

This report draws in part on national reports and analyses carried out by the Joining Forces members and national partners in Bangladesh, Brazil, Cambodia, Colombia, Germany, Guatemala, India, Kenya, Mali, Nepal, Peru, The Philippines, Romania, Senegal, Spain, Uganda and Zambia. Particular thanks are due to the many colleagues and partners in those countries who led on the commissioning and writing of national reports. Many of these reports also included consultations with children and young people. Their insights and openness have greatly enhanced our work, and reminded us of how much we have to learn from listening to children. Some of their input is quoted directly in the report.

A number of external partners and friends fed into the report at the draft stage. Their input was extremely helpful. Thank you to Jo Becker at Human Rights Watch; Benyam Dawit Mezmur of the University of Western Cape, the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, and the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child; Assefa Bequele of the African Child Policy Forum; Jo Rogers of Partnership for Every Child; Ramya Subra<mark>hm</mark>anian an<mark>d Yekaterin</mark>a Chzhen of the UNICEF Innocenti Centre; Stephen Langton at Child Rights Connect; Jess Espey at UN SDSN; Gerison Lansdown; Veronica Yates at the Child Rights Information Network; and Albert Motivans at Equal Measures 2030.

A Second Revolution

Thirty years of child rights, and the unfinished agenda

Contents:

Abbreviations / 1

Foreword / 2

Introduction /3

Chapter 1 - Change for children / 6

- 1.1 Survival and education / 7
- 1.2 Child rights in national and international law / 10
- 1.3 Progress in tackling violence and exploitation /12
- 1.4 Children in vulnerable family settings / 15
- 1.5 Children's participation and voice / 17
- 1.6 Poverty reduction and investment in children /18
- 1.7 Conclusion / 20

Chapter 2 – The unfinished agenda / 21

- 2.1 Children left behind / 22
- 2.2 Economic exploitation / 26
- 2.3 Ending violence against children / 28
- 2.4 The dimensions of violence against children / 30
- 2.5 The implementation gap / 33

Chapter 3 – Child rights in a changing world /35

- 3.1 Best interests / 36
- 3.2 Children's right to be heard / 37
- 3.3 A changing world demography, conflict and climate change / 40
- 3.4 Political threats to child rights /42

Conclusions – A call to action /43

4.1 Recommendations /45

Notes / 47

1

Abbreviations

- AIDS Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
- **ASEAN** Association of South-East Asian Nations
 - CRC UN Convention on the Rights of the Child
 - **DHS** Demographic and Health Survey
 - FGM Female Genital Mutilation
 - **HIV** Human Immunodeficiency Virus
 - **ID** Identification
 - **ILO** International Labour Organisation
- LGBTQI Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Questioning and Intersex
- **MDGs** Millennium Development Goals
- MRM Monitoring and Reporting Mechanism
- **NGO** Non-Governmental Organisation
- **OECD** Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
- SAARC South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation
- **SDGs** Sustainable Development Goals **UN** United Nations
- UNFCC United Nations Framework Convention on Climate
- **UNICEF** United Nations Children's Fund

Foreword

The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, adopted 30 years ago, has contributed to a transformation of historic proportions. On most measures, the lives of children today are on average dramatically better than 30 years ago. Hundreds of millions more children are being vaccinated, eating healthily, living safely and going to school. Laws and policies recognise the rights of children as never before.

But this is no time to celebrate. In slums, conflict zones, migrant centres and remote villages there are millions of children whose lives have not improved. They are hungry, sick and left uneducated. Many of them are subjected to violence, abuse, exploitation and neglect. Often this is the result of discrimination, on the basis of race, caste, religion, gender identity (especially towards girls), or sexual orientation, or because they have a disability. These are the children who have been left behind. Their situation is a grave breach of the promises made to children in 1989.

The Convention on the Rights of the Child is the most widely ratified treaty in history. The Sustainable Development Goals have been agreed by all governments. They go hand in hand. We cannot achieve the SDGs without realising the rights of all children, nor viceversa. This report calls on states to fulfil their commitments with renewed vigour, urgency and imagination, so all children can grow up healthy, educated, safe from violence and free to make choices over their lives.

But this task cannot be achieved by states alone. As the world's six largest child-focused international NGOs, we believe that we have an important contribution to make.

We commit to working with others to develop practical solutions that secure children's rights, and uphold the principles of the CRC. We will strive to improve our own accountability to children, and support children to influence the decisions that shape their lives. And we will work with others to monitor progress and defend children's rights.

Let's act in the best interests of all children. It's time to deliver.

Anne-Birgitte Albrectsen, Plan International Meg Gardinier, ChildFund Alliance Norbert Meder, SOS Children's Villages International Delphine Moralis, Terre des Hommes International Federation Andrew Morley, World Vision International Helle Thorning-Schmidt, Save the Children International



Introduction A second revolution

In November 1989, just weeks after the fall of the Berlin Wall, and only months before the release of Nelson Mandela from a South African jail, another seismic change took place in the international order. Although it wasn't widely recognised at the time, the adoption of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child signalled a revolution.

For the first time, states around the world recognised in an international treaty that children have rights, equal to those of adults, and that the strength of societies is tied inextricably to the flourishing of their children. Historically, children had often been considered half-persons: either adjuncts to their parents, or voiceless subjects of pity and charity. Now, children were acknowledged as people with their own rights, voice and agency.

The UN CRC went on to become the most ratified United Nations Human Rights convention, supported by 196 countries. It heralded a fundamental shift in how children and childhood are perceived. But its impact has reached far beyond changes in perception. It also contributed to historically unprecedented gains that transformed the lives of hundreds of millions of people: children today are healthier, better nourished, more educated, and more protected in law than at any point in human history.

Views differ on the extent to which the CRC catalysed these changes. Its adoption coincided with a period of dramatic social, economic and technological change: as the Cold War ended, millions of people were integrated into the global economy, many long-standing conflicts came to an end, and a wave of democratic elections transformed the global political landscape. These broader geopolitical and economic shifts helped to drive dramatic improvements in wellbeing, and reductions in extreme poverty.

Yet the convention's impact should not be underplayed. First, the CRC spurred the passage of a raft of new laws and policies that helped to give children more formal protection, and increased their visibility within governments. Recognition of a right is not the same thing as realisation, but there's substantial evidence of changes in law contributing to marked improvements in areas where children are especially vulnerable, including labour exploitation, corporal punishment, alternative care, and forced and early marriage.

Secondly, it provided a framework in which more effective and responsive states increased their investment in essential services, boosting health and education outcomes. Better monitoring and gathering of data has helped governments to track progress. Meanwhile strengthened civil society has played a growing part in holding governments accountable for progress, in modelling effective service delivery, and in raising people's expectations of what is due to them.

Thirdly, the CRC has helped to bring about a world in which children themselves are increasingly shaping their own futures. Most fundamentally, it recognised that children have civil and political rights, including the rights to freedom of opinion and expression, and to peaceful assembly and association. Accelerating urbanisation, the spread of the internet and mobile phones, and a rapid expansion of secondary education have all made it easier for children to get access to information, communicate, and mobilise. But the CRC has also led many governments to give formal legal recognition to children's voices, fostering a wider culture of children's civic participation, often starting in schools and in organisations for children and youth.

These changes are remarkable, yet too often they go unremarked. For example, the mortality rate for children under the age of five has more than halved in the last 30 years, with the rate of reduction doubling since 2000.¹ This is equivalent to 17,000 fewer child deaths every day.² In the case of education, the picture is similar. Whereas 120 million children were missing a primary education in 1989, by 2017 this had fallen to less than 64 million.³

What's more remarkable still is that gains such as this have been achieved during a period of rapid population growth, most of it concentrated in poorer countries. In 1989, there were 1.7 billion children aged 14 and under in the world. By 2018, that had risen to 1.95 billion.⁴

Yet for all these advances, there remains an enormous unfinished agenda. For many millions of children, rights are honoured more in the breach than the observance. Each year, over 5 million children still die from preventable causes.⁵ On one measure, over 60% of children at primary school in developing countries fail to meet minimum proficiency in learning.⁶ 815 million people experience hunger, and 150 million young children have their long-term physical and mental development stunted by chronic malnutrition.⁷ Countless children, both in richer and poorer countries, face a daily reality of poverty, exploitation, violence, neglect and abuse.

The challenge of realising the rights laid out in the CRC has at least two dimensions. One involves finishing the job in areas like child mortality and basic education, where advances have been made, but where some groups of children have been left behind. Increasingly, the children who still face a significant risk of early death and hunger, or lack an education, are those living in poorly governed or conflictaffected contexts, or those belonging to excluded social groups. Many governments find it politically convenient to ignore these groups of children, while a lack of resources and conditions on the ground often make it difficult to improve their situation, even where the will exists.

The second challenge involves rights in areas where progress has been less steady, and where many governments have yet to translate the CRC's vision into either policy or practice. This is especially true in areas related to children's protection from violence, and children's civil and political rights: yet arguably these were areas where the Convention most clearly expanded our understanding of child rights.

Of course, these two challenges are closely connected. Children who are denied the right to health care or education because of social and political barriers – often tied to gender, ethnicity, or disability – are more likely to secure those rights if their political voice is strengthened, and active discrimination is tackled.

Without a stronger rights-based approach to children's wellbeing and development, the UN Sustainable Development Goals – with their twin objectives of ending poverty by 2030 and protecting the planet – will be difficult, if not impossible to achieve. The connection between the CRC and the Goals is a close one: many of the SDG targets are directly related to the Convention. Many more address issues, from climate change and inequality to good governance, that are critical enablers of the promises to children set out in the CRC. The UN's own recent assessment of the SDGs shows that many of these promises are being broken, with implementation in most areas being offtrack, or in areas such as hunger, stalling altogether.

In the UN Secretary-General's own words, the SDGs must be injected with a greater sense of urgency. The cost of inaction will be especially high for a generation of children at a point in history when the world's total number of children is peaking, and when the distribution of children between regions is shifting, with a growing share living in Africa. If the right actions are taken in the next decade, the effects could be transformational: investing now in children's rights represents one of development's 'best buys', with the potential to break the inter-generational cycle of poverty, and lay the foundations for a fairer, more prosperous, and sustainable future.

If this opportunity is lost, the costs are likely to be enormous. Today's children are tomorrow's adults. Failure will be counted not only in terms of wasted human potential and preventable suffering, but also in terms of social instability, foregone economic growth, and political volatility. In a rapidly changing world, realising the rights of children is a smart investment, as well as a legal obligation. Thirty years ago, governments sparked a revolution in how the world views and treats its children. Yet the promise of the Convention on the Rights of the Child was only ever partially realised. What is needed now is a second revolution, in which the rights of every child – whoever they are, and wherever they live – are fulfilled.



Change for children



From any perspective, the last thirty years have witnessed extraordinary improvements in the lives of children. Yet too often, this basic truth is obscured by a narrative that emphasises failed development efforts. The UN Millennium Development Goals, with a target date of 2015 set against a baseline of 1990, may have been missed in the aggregate. But in many cases failure disguises historically unprecedented gains. Burkina Faso, one of the poorest countries in the world, is a case in point. In 1989, 1 in 5 children in the country died before their fifth birthday. By 2017, that rate had reduced to roughly 1 in 12. Burkina Faso missed the MDG target of a two-thirds reduction in child mortality. But it had reduced child mortality by 60%, a rate 1.5 times faster than what was achieved in the thirty years before the CRC was adopted.8

1.1 Survival and education

The experience of Burkina Faso has been repeated across every region since 1989, with global child mortality falling from 93 for every 1,000 live births, to 39 today: an absolute reduction in the annual toll of child deaths from 12.7 million to 5.4 million.⁹ Since 2000, it's estimated that 30 million young lives have been saved as a result.¹⁰ The longer-term picture is one of convergence between richer and poorer countries. In the early 1900s, only six countries had infant mortality rates below 10%. Today, no country has an infant mortality rate above that level.¹¹ Despite low economic growth and the impact of AIDS, since 1960 Africa, the world's poorest region, has seen absolute and percentage improvements in under-five survival that outstrip those in highincome countries.¹²

Much of the progress made after 1989 was influenced by a series of UN summits in the 1990s that began to translate the rights enshrined in the CRC into time-bound targets. At the 1990 World Summit for Children, leaders of 71 governments joined UNICEF and the World Health Organisation in a grand alliance that set targets to cut child deaths and advance children's rights. Countries drafted new National Plans of Action for children, and increased investment in public health programmes such as vaccination against polio and measles, community management of diarrhoea, and malaria control.

Improvements in nutrition have been a critical enabler of better child survival rates. Stunting resulting from chronic malnutrition has almost halved since 1989, from about 40% to around



Figure 1: Child mortality has fallen dramatically

Data: UN Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation/World Bank

22% today. Better water and sanitation have also made a major contribution: some 91% of the world's population had piped drinking water by 2015, compared to 76% in 1990 – an increase of nearly 2 billion people.¹³

But probably the most important factor has been a child survival network that began in the 1980s and subsequently expanded. This network, encompassing frontline health workers, governments, international institutions and NGOs, worked closely with communities – and especially with mothers - to ensure that infants are immunised, dehydration is treated, bednets are distributed and children are properly fed. And as child mortality rates fell, families and communities got used to the idea that children could survive and should thrive, bringing with it the confidence to plan for smaller families. The average number of children born to each woman has continued to fall, accelerating a trend that began in the 1950s, with fertility rates falling since 1989 by 28% for Least Developed Countries, and by 45% in South Asia.14

A similar story can be told in education. The World Conference on Education for All in 1990, at Jomtien in Thailand, reinforced the idea that learning was a right, and led to the

© Daimon Xanthopoulos, Terre des Hommes International Federation

adoption of targets, including universal access to, and completion of primary education by 2000. That target was missed, but it helped to spur dramatic improvements in enrolment, completion and learning, and paved the way for the Millennium Development Goal targets of universal primary completion by 2015, and gender equality in enrolment by 2005.

The Jomtien conference led many countries to adopt an official policy of Universal Primary Education, and many governments to make primary education free, by abolishing official charges. Even if the implementation of these policies was often flawed, and not accompanied by sufficient public investment, it led a surge in enrolments as tens of millions of poor children went to school for the first time.

Globally, net enrolment rates for primary education have risen from 82% to 90% since the adoption of the CRC. In Ethiopia, Africa's second most populous country, 70% of primary aged children were out of school in 1989. By 2015, that had fallen dramatically, to 15%.¹⁵ Literacy rates for older girls and young women, aged 15-24, rose in Least Developed Countries over the same period from 47% to 73% – approaching four times the global rate of improvement.¹⁶

In Sub-Saharan Africa, the worst-performing region, rates of school-age children in school jumped from 52% in 1990 to 80% by 2015.¹⁷ And as global enrolment neared 90%, the numbers of primary-age children missing out on school globally fell, from 120 million in 1990 to around 64 million today.¹⁸

The 2005 MDG target of eliminating the gap between girls and boys in education, and reaching equality at primary and secondary levels, was met globally in 2014, even if wide variations persist within and between countries.

The fruits of these massive efforts to meet the rights of all children to basic education are seen in the improvement of youth literacy rates from 83% in 1989 to 91% in 2016, with girls' literacy rising faster than that of boys, and reducing, if not closing, the gender gap.

9

BOX 1: CHILD RIGHTS AND THE MILLENNIUM DECLARATION



The Convention on the Rights of the Child laid the foundations for a series of global targets, adopted at UN summits in the 1990s, that led to the adoption of the Millennium Declaration. Many of the commitments at the turn of the century drew directly on the principles of the CRC, and reinforced efforts to realise children's rights:

... in addition to our separate responsibilities to our individual societies, we have a collective responsibility to uphold the principles of human dignity, equality and equity at the global level. As leaders we have a duty therefore to all the world's people, especially the most vulnerable and, in particular, the children of the world, to whom the future belongs.

We will spare no effort to promote democracy and strengthen the rule of law, as well as respect for all internationally recognized human rights and fundamental freedoms, including the right to development.

We will spare no effort to ensure that children and all civilian populations that suffer disproportionately the consequences of natural disasters, genocide, armed conflicts and other humanitarian emergencies are given every assistance and protection so that they can resume normal life as soon as possible.

We resolve... to encourage the ratification and full implementation of the Convention on the Rights of the Child and its optional protocols on the involvement of children in armed conflict and on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography.

The Millennium Declaration was reflected in the 2015 Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). While the MDGs responded to many of the provisions of the Convention, they neglected children's protection and participation. The focus of the Declaration on equality and the most vulnerable children was diluted in a drive for measurable improvements at the global level. Despite the shortcomings of the MDGs, in many areas including child mortality, progress towards the goals accelerated after 2005.



Figure 2: The gender gap for primary school enrolment has closed

Gender parity index for primary school enrolment (gross)

1.2 Child rights in national and international law

These remarkable improvements in children's wellbeing were driven, at least in part, by a compelling idea, that children have rights. Children's rights were first articulated in the Declaration of the Rights of the Child, drafted by Eglantyne Jebb in 1924 and adopted by the League of Nations. Eglantyne Jebb's pioneering vision laid the foundations for the Convention on the Rights of the Child, over half a century later. But it was only after governments ratified the CRC that formal recognition was given to this vision of children as people in their own right, to whom adults and states have binding obligations (see box 2).

The CRC triggered a deep change – albeit one that is incomplete – in how children are viewed and treated by adults. Most obviously, this has been reflected in a raft of new legal protections and policies. Many countries have passed Children's Acts into law, and adopted national strategies for children. In turn, this has shaped public conversations about how children are treated, and should be treated. At the global level, new tools and procedures have been established to monitor and report on children's rights, including the periodic reports by governments to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child. The Committee responds with recommendations, and has issued a large number of advisory, in-depth 'general comments' on matters affecting child rights. This has helped to make child rights more visible, and given civil society organisations tools with which to hold governments more accountable for delivery of their commitments.

Civil society groups and children themselves, often collaborating in child rights networks, have organized alternative shadow reports that complement the formal reports submitted by governments to the UN, and often provide a critical commentary on governments' self-assessments. Other UN Conventions, including the Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against Women, and the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, are helping to buttress the commitments in the CRC. Meanwhile, the work of the UN Human Rights Council has opened new spaces in which to track implementation of commitments to children.

BOX 2: THE CONVENTION ON THE RIGHTS OF THE CHILD – ITS SIGNIFICANCE AND SCOPE

The **Convention on the Rights of the Child** (CRC) mobilised states around a vision of the world where children are seen as holders of their own rights, and valued as 'beings', even if they are also 'becomings' who are developing, with their situation as children having an impact on their future ability to secure rights in adulthood.¹⁹ It gives children a voice and the right to speak about issues that concern them and affect them.

Children – defined as any person under the age of 18 – were identified as subjects and holders of rights, and given legal grounds to be active citizens. The agency of children is at the core of the CRC, allowing them to defend their rights and the rights of others, and to thrive in way that builds societies grounded in the principles of equality, dignity, and non-discrimination.

Thanks to the Convention, children as individuals are equal before the law, and State Parties and other duty bearers have an obligation to fulfil and uphold their rights. The realisation of these rights is a common responsibility shared by all 196 countries that have ratified the Convention²⁰ – with states expected to mobilise resources to the maximum available extent to deliver on this commitment.

The CRC is both the most widely ratified human rights convention in the world, and the most comprehensive binding instrument, covering political, civil, economic, social, and cultural rights. These are set out in 54 articles that cover three broad areas:

- **survival and development**, which include the right to food, shelter, education, health, leisure and culture, family relations and parental guidance and care.
- protection from violence, abuse, exploitation, and neglect.
- **participation**, which covers issues related to civil rights and freedoms, including freedom of expression, thought, conscience, religion, association, and peaceful assembly, as well as the right to information and the right of children to participate in decisions that affect them.

The Convention defines **4 core principles** that must be applied to all rights throughout childhood, in order for the CRC's promise to be realised: non-discrimination (article 2); the best interests of the child as a primary concern (article 3); the right to life, survival and development (article 6); and the right to freely express views and be heard (article 12).

In 2003 the Committee on the Rights of the Child also set out the 'general measures of implementation' that states need to put in place to realise child rights, including harmonization of laws and policies with the CRC, allocation of public resources to the maximum extent possible, and mechanisms to coordinate implementation, collect data and raise awareness of child rights.²¹

Since 1989, three additional binding legal instruments have been adopted, resulting in a more comprehensive legal protection for children. These 'optional protocols' to the CRC focus on children in armed conflict; the sale of children, child prostitution and pornography; and a communications procedure that allows complaints to be lodged against alleged child rights violations. This allows a child not only to make claims directly to the Committee, where a national legal system has failed to address a violation, but also allows that child to receive remedies for rights that were denied to them.

As with other human rights treaties, a group of experts – The Committee on the Rights of the Child – oversees implementation. The Committee is hosted by the UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights.

Beyond the United Nations, since 1989 regional bodies have played an increasingly important role in promoting and monitoring national commitments to child rights. The African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child was adopted by the Organisation of African Unity in 1990, and entered into force in 1999. So far, it has been ratified by 47 of the 55 African Union member states. The African Committee on the Rights and Welfare of the Child, hosted by the African Union Commission, was established in 2001, and is responsible for monitoring implementation of the Charter, and regularly reports on progress to African governments. Regional child rights monitoring mechanisms have also been established by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, the European Union, ASEAN in South East Asia and SAARC in South Asia.

"Listen to us... there are many people who think that your opinion will be ridiculous or that it doesn't make sense... even if it's good, because you're a child"

Lucia*, Spain

This major increase in the attention given to child rights in the international system, and in national

laws, has been informed by a growing body of knowledge about children's lives. There's increasing understanding of how children's brains and bodies develop, how they learn, and of what kinds of parenting practices and interventions will help them to thrive and stay safe. The critical importance of the early years, and of transitions in childhood, are much better understood than was the case 30 years ago. Data, from a massive expansion of household level surveys, as well as from census, health and education systems, are being collected and used as never before, even if major gaps remain. These changes have perhaps been most critically important in relation to violence, and its impact on children, which is receiving far more attention from policy makers than in the past, and is the subject of increasingly concerted advocacy from civil society oraanisations.

1.3 Progress in tackling violence and exploitation

Violence against children exists in every society and context, both within and outside the family. It knows very few geographical, cultural, social or economic boundaries. But how children experience violence, and the prevalence and kinds of violence they experience is shaped by attitudes and entrenched beliefs related to gender, childhood, race, disability, sexuality, and cultural tradition.

Understanding these attitudes and beliefs, and their impact on how adults and children behave, is critical to tackling the problem. But changes in law and policy also matter, and can either reinforce or challenge behaviour that harms children. Since 1989 there have been growing efforts to strengthen legal protections for children, and tackle some of the most dramatic failures to safeguard children from violence.

Corporal punishment is one example of how the CRC has been a catalyst for change. Prior to 1989, only three countries had laws prohibiting all corporal punishment of children. Today, over 50 do – often the result of concerted campaigning by civil society (see box 3).²²

BOX 3: BANNING CORPORAL PUNISHMENT IN MONGOLIA



In 2016, Mongolia became the 49th country in the world to ban all corporal punishment of children. Two new laws – on Child Protection and on Children's Rights – prohibited the use of physical punishment by parents, confirmed children's right to protection, and obliged caregivers and teachers to use non-violent discipline. The reforms were part of a wider effort to create an improved, rights-based national child protection system.

This change can be traced back to 2007, when an advocacy campaign involving 25 national and international civil society organisations began to engage children, parents, teachers, lawyers, and journalists. The campaign raised public awareness, generated evidence of the impact of corporal punishment, and lobbied for legislative change.

Children played an important role in the process, countering opposing arguments and bringing the human impact of corporal punishment to life. A regional participatory research project on corporal punishment, part of the UN Study on Violence against Children, had a major influence on debates. Children were involved in the study, and provided feedback to two shadow reports to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, where they called for a separate law on child protection.

Since 2016, civil society organisations have continued to engage government on implementation, working to improve the legal framework, and to change social attitudes. This work includes training programmes to promote positive discipline amongst civil servants, social workers, teachers and parents.

Similarly dramatic changes can be seen in the raising of the minimum legal age of marriage. In the past 6 years, 15 countries have increased the legal age of marriage to 18 years or removed exemptions that allowed younger girls to marry – progress that far exceeds what took place over the previous 15 years.

Changes in the law do not automatically reduce the incidence of child marriage – partly because of weak enforcement, and also because poverty is often a driving factor.²³ Globally, girls from the poorest 20% of households face a 76% higher-than-average risk of child marriage, and humanitarian crises and economic collapse often precipitate an increase in the number of girls being married off by their families.²⁴ But it is nonetheless likely that changes in the minimum age have contributed to a climate in which girls are less likely to become brides: UNICEF data show a 15% fall over the last decade in the number of young women who were married as children, from 1 in 4, to 1 in 5.²⁵

14 A SECOND REVOLUTION

Figure 3: Child marriage is falling, but rates are much higher for the poorest girls

Child marriage (% women 20-24 years first married or in union by age 18)

Data: Save the Children calculations based on Save the Children/World Bank estimates, and DHS/MICS Dotted lines indicate projections

In many countries, especially in parts of Africa and the Middle East, child marriage is closely associated with Female Genital Mutilation (FGM), rooted in the belief that cutting helps to preserve a girl's cleanliness and chastity, and therefore her ability to be married. Yet one recent study reported that the prevalence in East Africa amongst girls aged 14 and under has fallen from over 70% in 1995, to 8% in 2016.²⁶ Large reductions over the same period were also reported in West Africa and North Africa. Even if some of these girls undergo genital mutilation at a later age, it is undoubtedly the case that girls and young women in these regions are now far less likely to have undergone FGM than their mothers' generation. Legal reform has played a part in this progress, but the more important factor has been the engagement of influential community and religious leaders, an understanding of local context, and public education about the risks to women's health associated with FGM.

This picture of significant but incomplete progress is seen in other areas where children are vulnerable to exploitation, abuse and neglect. From 2000 to 2016 the estimated number of children engaged in child labour – defined as work that deprives children of their childhood, and is mentally, physical, socially or morally harmful – fell by 94 million, while the number of children in hazardous work fell by more than half over the same period. The adoption of the Convention on the Worst Forms of Child Labour in 1999, and its subsequent ratification by 184 member states – the most widely ratified ILO convention in history – was an important catalyst for legislative and policy change. However, since 2012 progress has slowed, and according to the ILO at the current rate of decline 52 million children will still be engaged in hazardous work in 2025.²⁷

The international community has also instituted important legal and normative changes in relation to children in armed conflict. Conflict accounts for some of the worst forms of violence against children, including killing and maiming, forced recruitment into armed groups, and sexual violence. It also tends to create environments in which normal standards of behaviour are weakened, and impunity flourishes. The CRC has been strengthened by the Monitoring and Reporting Mechanism on grave violations against children, established through Security Council Resolution 1612, in 2005. The MRM informs an annual listing by the UN Secretary-General of countries and armed groups responsible for grave violations. Offending parties are asked to draw up action

plans to comply with international law: to date, 28 listed parties have signed action plans, including 11 Government forces and 17 non-State armed groups.

Ultimately, the impact of initiatives such as the MRM is often blunted by political considerations, and by decisions taken in the UN Security Council. The 2016 report, for example, removed the Saudi-led coalition from the listing over its role in Yemen, after Saudi Arabia mobilised its allies.²⁸ Yet in some key areas the UN mechanisms for children affected by armed conflict have had a significant impact. Although the use of child soldiers in armed conflict has risen in the last 20 years, between 2015 and 2018 over 17,000 children were formally released from armed groups in the Democratic Republic of Congo, and globally over 55,000 children have been released since 2013.29

In all these cases – corporal punishment, child marriage, FGM, child labour and children in conflict – legal change has been complemented by better data, making it easier for governments and civil society to track progress and identify problems. Initiatives such as the UN Study on the Impact of Armed Conflict on Children (1997), the UN Study on Violence Against Children (2006), and the appointments of UN Special Representatives for Children Affected by Armed Conflict, and on Violence Against Children have been important milestones, improving the understanding of how violence affects children in different contexts. Governments, the UN and civil society are now working together much more systematically to strengthen systems that prevent and respond to violence. New instruments such as the Minimum Standards for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action are also guiding better practices and safeguards for children in crises.

1.4 Children in vulnerable family settings

rowing up outside a family setting is one **J**of the most powerful predictors of child deprivation and vulnerability. While abuse and neglect are most often experienced at the hands of parents and close relatives, children without parental care are at a heightened risk, and often suffer long-term emotional and physical effects. Roughly 150 million children around the world have lost one or both parents: in Sub-Saharan Africa, some 11 million children are affected due to HIV and AIDS.³⁰ Data from 77 countries suggest that 1 in 10 children are living with neither of their biological parents.³¹ Most of these children live with relatives, but a significant number of them head their own households, or live with spouses or employers. These children are usually less able to exercise their rights, and often face both legal and social discrimination.



BOX 4: DEINSTITUTIONALISING CARE IN ROMANIA



When the Iron Curtain came down in 1990, Romania's orphanages came to international attention. At the time, 100,000 children were in institutional care, often living in in large, overcrowded public institutions that caused long-term physical and mental damage. In the past 28 years, Romania has made dramatic progress both in the standard of care given by the state to children, and in shifting away from institutions to more appropriate alternatives. In 2018, there were 6,600 children in institutional care, a 95% reduction since the end of the Ceausescu government.

Despite this progress, problems persist. Children continue to be abandoned and there is insufficient focus on reintegration of abandoned children, and on preventing separation, especially amongst high-risk groups such as adolescent mothers. Tackling the high levels of teenage and early pregnancies has a key role to play in tackling abandonment. Children from disadvantaged groups continue to be overrepresented in institutions. Children with disabilities account for almost 30% of the children in institutions,³² and children from the minority Roma community are twice as likely to be institutionalised as non-Roma.³³

Many children who've lost parents, or live on the streets, will spend at least some of their childhood living in institutional care. The data are patchy, since large numbers of children live in unregistered institutions. But the best available estimates are that 2.7 million children around the world currently live in residential care facilities.³⁴ There's less comprehensive global data for foster care, but it's estimated that 800,000 children in high-income countries are living in foster care (see box 4), and a further 790,000 in Central and Eastern Europe and the Commonwealth of Independent States.³⁵ For many of these children in alternative care settings there's a failure to meet basic standards of care and safety. In the worst cases, their rights are being systematically violated.

Despite the widespread belief that many children in formal alternative care are orphans, over 80% of them have one or both parents alive. In many cases better-designed and properly funded support services could have prevented children from being separated in the first place, or allowed for reintegration into their families.

"What makes me happy... is having my brothers with me, this is what I enjoy most. And what makes me unhappy is that my parents don't visit me much"

Florin*, Romania

The situation of children in alternative care – and in institutional care especially – has been a major focus of the Committee on the Rights of the Child. In the past 30 years new international guidelines, including the UN Guidelines for the Alternative Care of Children in 2009, have promoted policies to prevent unnecessary separation from parents, to support the care of children away from institutions, and establish alternative care options that respond to children's best interests. These include support for informal kinship care, by relatives or close friends; foster and family-based and family-like placements; residential care, such as emergency and transit care and small group homes; and supervised independent living arrangements for youth.

Implementation of such guidelines still has some way to go. In Africa, Asia and Latin America there is a concerning trend of increasing numbers of unregistered, privately run alternative care facilities, which lack any formal oversight, and often actively recruit children from their families.³⁶ For example, in Uganda there were 35 such facilities in the mid-1990s. Today, there are 800.³⁷

Yet in the last ten years, inspired partly by UN Guidelines and the work of the Committee on the Rights of the Child, there have been increased efforts in many countries to develop quality standards and inspection mechanisms for alternative care settings. A growing emphasis has been put on children's rights and development, with individual case management informed by children's own views.

1.5 Children's participation and voice

The right to an identity is one of the cornerstones of the CRC, and a critical enabler of other rights. Since 1989, there has been a marked increase in birth registration of children under the age of five years, rising from 55% in 2000, to 78% in 2018. UNICEF and Plan International especially have played a key role in supporting increased birth registration: in the case of Ghana, a birth registration campaign in the early 2000's raised rates from 44% to 71% in just five years.³⁸

Having their existence formally recognised in law is often a first step in children being able to make themselves heard. Children know their own situations best, and the quality of decisionmaking improves where they are able to influence decisions that impact on their lives.



Figure 4: The number of children whose births are registered is rising

Children under 5 whose births have been registered (%)

Data: Save the Children calculations based on DHS/MICS, World Bank and UNICEF Dotted lines indicate projections

This participation takes many different forms, shaped by their evolving capacities. Participation is often most meaningful in settings closest to the child – in their homes, alternative care settings, schools, and communities where routine decisions are made. As children grow older, opportunities to participate in wider spaces with their peers, and with cultural, religious, and political actors are also important, including the design of public budgets, plans, policies and services.

The CRC has made governments and civil society organisations increasingly aware of the value of participation, reflected in national laws, policies, procedures and guidelines in education, health, care, protection, and justice. For instance, in a number of Latin American countries, children's representatives participate in municipal decision-making, including budgeting processes; and the voting age has been reduced to 16 years in Argentina, Brazil, Cuba, Ecuador and Nicaragua. In Nepal, there are more than 23,000 community or school-based child clubs, which engage with local government, while Bangladesh and the Philippines also promote child participation in local decision-making.

1.6 Poverty reduction and investment in children

Over the past three decades, many of the improvements in children's lives have been catalysed by the CRC. But underlying economic change has also enabled many of these gains. Since 1989, GDP per person has more than tripled in real terms, from around \$5,000 to over \$17,000 today. This massive increase in economic output has enabled many millions of families, and many governments, to invest far more in children's nutrition, health, and education.

Three decades of global economic growth has led to huge reductions in income poverty, with nearly 1.1 billion people having escaped the "dollar a day" income trap (or its updated equivalent) since 1990. It is also the case that global poverty reduction data conceals wide variations. Most of the people who have escaped extreme poverty have been in Asia, and hundreds of millions of the 'non-poor' live precariously, just above poverty lines. Growing inequality also means that growth has become less effective over time at reducing poverty, while the nature of economic growth raises serious questions about sustainability: many people who have escaped poverty face new and different threats to their wellbeing, including insecurity, environmental destruction, and frayed social ties.

Yet despite these challenges, many fewer children experience absolute material want today than was the case when the CRC was adopted. Government investments in some services for children, while often hard to identify within national budgets, have risen, according to World Bank estimates. Globally, between 1999 and 2015, national spending on education rose from 4.1 to 4.8% of Gross Domestic Product, and on health, over a similar period, from 4.6 to 5.8%. For countries that have invested efficiently, these spending increases have without doubt improved the lives of large numbers of children.



Figure 5: Countries with high child mortality are under-investing in health

Data: UN Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation / World Bank World Development Indicators

A growing number of governments are also using increased revenues to lay the foundations of welfare systems that are designed, at least in part to safeguard children's rights. Most commonly, this is taking the form of cash provided as family or child grants, or as part of the response to humanitarian emergencies. Since 1989, social protection programmes benefiting children have spread from Europe and Latin America to cover millions of poor children in parts of Asia and Africa.³⁹ However, coverage is still patchy, with only about a third of children worldwide covered by such schemes. Many countries have also cut back on welfare provision since the global financial crisis of 2008-09, and most Low-Income Countries are still heavily dependent on aid for what are often pilot programmes, rather than universal systems. Nonetheless, a growing body of evidence shows that where social transfers are well designed and targeted, they can dramatically improve children's health, food security and learning.⁴⁰

1.7 Conclusion

Over the last 30 years, the Convention on the Rights of the Child has revolutionised the status of children around the world. New laws and policies have created a framework for action. Increased public investment in services and interventions that benefit children, improved monitoring of progress, growing civil society engagement, and widespread poverty reduction have all contributed to a world in which children are healthier, better educated, and more protected than ever before.

Efforts to realise children's rights can now draw on a far more complete set of globally agreed goals and targets than has existed previously. The UN Sustainable Development Goals, set for the year 2030, reflect many of the promises made by governments when ratifying the CRC. They include targets to protect children from all forms of violence, promote gender equality, tackle other forms of discrimination, and end child labour and exploitation. Importantly, they're also applicable to all countries, regardless of income level. The next step is to apply these targets to governments' plans and budgets, and to create more effective mechanisms for monitoring and accountability, in which children are able to influence the decisions that affect their lives.

The new global agenda contains a further crucial provision: the promise to 'leave no one behind'. The last 30 years have delivered many of the CRC's promises, and in the process the lives of countless children have been bettered. But for many millions of children, that promise has been broken. These children are not accidental victims of misfortune, but the object of neglect, inaction and discrimination. A new era of commitment, action and justice is needed to realise the vision of the CRC.



The unfinished agenda



f the progress achieved for children since the adoption of the CRC is unprecedented, the unfinished agenda should not be underestimated. The Sustainable Development Goals – agreed at the UN General Assembly in 2015 – commit every country to ending extreme poverty, hunger and preventable child deaths, and ensuring that every child is learning, by 2030. Crucially, governments pledged to ensure that these targets are pursued with a strong focus on people who had been left behind by the previous generation of global commitments, the Millennium Development Goals. As such, the SDGs are a critically important test of governments' commitment and capacity to fulfil the promise of the CRC.

It's a promise that is being broken daily for millions of children. On current trends, almost two-thirds of developing countries are off-track towards meeting the SDG targets related to a cluster of basic needs, in areas such as food, health, education, water and sanitation, and energy.⁴¹ For fragile states, this proportion rises to four-in-five countries.⁴² From the perspective of children, the especially slow progress of the very poorest countries matters. These countries have proportionally large populations of under-18s, and their child populations are continuing to grow rapidly. They also have relatively weak states with limited capacity to meet people's basic needs.

In most middle-income countries, in contrast, deprivation is increasingly concentrated in particular geographic areas and social groups. But in both contexts, it's the poorest children who are being left furthest behind. Child mortality is a case in point. Children in the poorest fifth of households are 40% more likely than the global average to die before their fifth birthday. In 19 countries, including India and Nigeria, the gap in survival between the poorest fifth and the national average isn't set to close before the end of this century.⁴³ A similar pattern exists in the case of nutrition, with young children in the poorest families and in rural and remote areas more likely to be stunted.44

Poverty is disproportionately a condition of the young. Because poor households in most societies have more children, they are globally twice as likely as adults to be poor, and account for half of all people who remain in extreme poverty. On multi-dimensional measures, 700 million children are estimated still to be seriously deprived of their wellbeing and socio-economic rights.⁴⁵ Efforts to achieve the 2030 goals therefore needs to start with the recognition that interventions and policies targeted at children are needed to tackle the barriers that have left millions of people behind.

2.1 Children left behind

Behind national data there is a complex picture of specific groups of children being bypassed by recent gains. Despite many improvements in the status of girls, around the world they continue to face barriers to equality with boys (see box 5). For example, 5 million more girls than boys of primary age are out of school, girls are more likely than boys never to enrol, and female primary enrolment continues to lag behind boys in roughly 30 countries.⁴⁶

"Child marriage in Chabota is caused by poverty... parents use small girls as capital to wipe away poverty"

Collins*, Zambia

The gender gap in education is particularly persistent at secondary level: while over twothirds of countries have reached gender parity in primary schooling, less than one-third have reached it for secondary education. In West and Central Africa, for example, only 83 girls are enrolled in secondary schooling for every 100 boys.⁴⁷ There are a number of factors at work: some school systems prevent pregnant girls and young mothers from attending, while the absence of girl-friendly facilities and the risk of sexual harassment and assault, in school and on the way to school, all play a part.⁴⁸



Figure 6: Girls still lag behind boys in education outcomes

Data: UNESCO/World Bank

Girls face many other forms of disadvantage that reinforce and reflect gender-based discrimination. For example, child marriage, which overwhelmingly affects girls rather than boys, is strongly connected to school drop-out, risks of complication and death in pregnancy and childbirth, and a lifetime drop in earnings potential. Every year, 12 million girls marry before the age of 18, with an estimated 1 in 9 girls in developing countries married before the age of 15.⁴⁹



BOX 5: GENDER AND CHILD RIGHTS



The principle of non-discrimination is at the heart of the CRC, and is the key to ensuring that rights are secured for all children, girls and boys. While discrimination takes many different forms, gender inequality remains one of the most persistent and widespread barriers preventing children, and especially girls, from realising their full and equal rights.

Despite important progress over recent decades, gender-based barriers systematically prevent girls and women from having access to, and control over essential services and resources. Harmful gender norms can also put obstacles in the way of girls and women being decision makers, thereby reinforcing the cycle of deprivation and marginalisation.

This discrimination translates into critical violations of rights. Twice as many girls as boys never attend primary school.⁵⁰ At least 1 in 3 women experiences gender-based violence, often starting in early childhood. Institutionalised violence, in the form of child marriage and a lack of protection of girls, contributes to making pregnancy-related complications and childbirth the leading cause of death amongst girls aged 15 and over.⁵¹

Poverty hits women and girls hardest. A 1% fall in GDP increases infant mortality by 7.5 deaths per 1000 births for girls, compared to 1.5 for boys.⁵² Women and girls spend 2-10 times more time on unpaid care work than their male counterparts, and face critical barriers to equal participation and imbalances in power in different settings, including the home, workplaces, and legislatures.⁵³

Gender discrimination leads to the rights of boys being violated, as well as girls. Boys are at particular risk of recruitment into armed groups and violent gangs, and are more likely to use violence to settle disputes. They are at greater risk of coming into conflict with the law. Cultural norms often deny boys the opportunity to express emotions, with male adolescent suicide rates more than double those for girls.⁵⁴ Rigid gender roles create barriers to boys being able to take on caregiving roles and share fairly in domestic labour.

Realising children's rights, and accelerating progress towards the SDGs, will require a much sharper focus by governments, civil society, and international institutions on gender equality. It will also require far-reaching changes in social attitudes and behaviour, to ensure that women and girls have the confidence, capability, access and agency to make equal and informed decisions, both in private and public life. In some cases, gender disparities work in the other direction. In Latin America and the Caribbean, boys school enrolment has lagged behind that of girls for the last two decades, with only 90 boys in upper secondary education for every 100 girls.⁵⁵ And as the challenge in many middle- and upper-income countries shifts from getting children enrolled in school, to ensuring that they learn, boys are often falling behind. Among OECD countries in 2015, 15 year-old boys were on average twothirds of a school year behind girls in terms of reading ability.⁵⁶

Some groups of children face especially high barriers to securing their rights. By some estimates, 150 million children around the world have disabilities.⁵⁷ They are among the most structurally disadvantaged children in many societies, and are over-represented in poorer countries and amongst the poorest households: 1 in 5 of the poorest people in the world have a disability.⁵⁸ Disability is both a cause and consequence of poverty: disease, lack of medical care, malnutrition and conflict all make children in already poor families more likely to be disabled. But disability also pushes households into poverty, and makes it more likely that children will grow up without their rights secured.

As with many groups of children facing discrimination, data are patchy, but it's estimated that fewer than half of all children with disabilities complete primary schooling, and that one-third of all out of school children have a disability.⁵⁹ In Bangladesh, 30% of people with disabilities had completed primary school, compared with 48% of those with no disabilities.⁶⁰

Adolescent children who identify as Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Questioning and Intersex, or who are identified as such by their community or peers, often face extreme vulnerability. In many cases, they're ostracised or bullied, in schools and at home, and in some countries they risk "corrective" violence or incarceration. Despite the evidence of vulnerability to violence and self-harm, publicly funded support services for LGBTQI children are under-resourced or non-existent in far too many countries. Suicide rates amongst LGBTQI children are reported to be up to three times higher than for heterosexual children.⁶¹ In Brazil, 12% of suicides, and almost 6% of murders amongst the under-19s are reported to have homophobia as a cause.⁶² One Save the Children study in Vietnam found that LGBTQI children were more likely to end up living on the streets, to be without ID, rejected by their families, and forced into sex work and other forms of exploitation.⁶³

Some of the children most vulnerable to exploitation and abuse are those living and working on the street. Definitions vary and there are gaps in the data, but it's estimated that tens of millions of children are affected.⁶⁴ In India alone, estimates range from 11-18 million children.⁶⁵ While the contexts in which they live and work vary widely, many such children have already been subjected to serious violations of their rights before they spend time on the streets, whether at home, or in care or juvenile justice institutions. Once on the street, many children are unable to get access to essential services, and report violence and abuse at the hands of police, and vulnerability to criminal gangs.66

For millions of children, a partial or complete lack of citizenship rights lies behind their exclusion from essential services, and undermines the realisation of other rights. An estimated 3.7 million refugee children are out of school, with refugees 5 times more likely to be denied the right to education than non-refugee children in their host countries.⁶⁷ In some cases, children forced from their homes by natural disaster and conflict are made doubly vulnerable, because identity documents that are critical to their ability to secure services are lost or destroyed, or because birth registration systems temporarily fail to function.⁶⁸

In other cases, children are simply not documented. Despite progress since 2000, over one-fifth of births globally are still not registered, with 146 million children affected.⁶⁹ The impact is greatest on the poorest children, with births in the poorest 20% of households 15% less likely to be registered than the global average. The right to a legal identity matters in itself, but is also a gateway to other rights. Conversely, a lack of paperwork establishing someone's identity often not only bars access to school, healthcare and welfare schemes, but also increases the risks of child labour, child marriage, and trafficking.

Unregistered births can be the first point in a lifetime of state-sanctioned discrimination, marginalisation and violence. The experience of the Rohingya people in Myanmar is a case in point: the country's 1982 citizenship law stripped Rohingya of citizenship and the right to self-identify. Long before the outbreak of massive state-sponsored violence in 2017, this led to draconian restrictions on daily life, including bans on unauthorised travel, work outside of home communities, and marriage without permission.⁷⁰

Many of these sources of discrimination overlap and reinforce each other – a girl in a remote rural area who belongs to a discriminated ethnic group will be much more disadvantaged than an urban girl from an economically dominant ethnic group, for example. When data are disaggregated, to build up a more detailed picture of disadvantage, it illustrates this point: in many middle-income countries, excluded groups of children are faring worse than children in countries that are on average much poorer. For example, in Honduras, the most disadvantaged region, Lempira, has a similar multi-dimensional child deprivation score to the average for Haiti, a low-income country.⁷¹ Ensuring that no child is left behind in efforts to achieve the SDGs will require governments to pay increasing attention to discrimination, and tackle underlying social and economic barriers to development.

2.2 Economic exploitation

Millions of children continue to be immediate harm and long-term damage, and slow down progress towards the 2030 goals. Despite a global reduction in the number of child labourers, around the world 152 million children continue to work. Approximately half of these children are engaged in what the UN describes as hazardous work that directly endangers their health, safety, and moral development.⁷²

Boys' and girls' experience of child labour differs. Boys are more likely to do hazardous work, while girls are more often expected to shoulder responsibility for household chores, something not captured in most official child labour estimates. Girls are also more likely to perform "double work duty", where they both do paid work and help in the home, especially with food preparation, cleaning, water collection, and child care. An estimated 58% of paid work by children is done by boys, although the incidence amongst boys has declined at twice the rate for girls in recent years.⁷³

"Girls are mistreated more than boys; when girls arrive home right after school, they start working. When boys leave their backpacks, they start playing; they do not want to help the girls, they cannot be sent to buy things"

Lenka*, Burkina Faso

A recent study of the decline in child labour over the past 20 years in Brazil and Mexico shows that while rising incomes and urbanisation played a major role, integrated policy responses had the biggest influence. Strengthened legal standards and regulation, social protection schemes that boost household income and help keep children in school, the expansion of education, and better pay and working conditions for adults combined to reduce the pressures on poor households to send children to work, and boosted the positive incentives for parents and employers.⁷⁴ Children themselves have been largely excluded from efforts to tackle child labour, despite the evidence that increased dialogue with working children and their families is essential to the design, implementation and monitoring of effective policy (see Box 6).⁷⁵ Listening to children in work can also be an important element in their self-confidence, development and protection, and makes it more likely that they will defend their rights, and those of others, in the future.⁷⁶

BOX 6: TALKING TO WORKING CHILDREN



Recent consultations with more than 1,800 working children in 36 countries revealed a range of reasons for children's work, and showed positive and negative impacts. While some children say they chose to work to help their families, learn new skills or continue their education, others felt compelled to work. In some cases, the poor quality of education was cited as a reason for dropping out of school and entering the world of work. Some children described the struggle to balance work and study. A significant number described how their earnings enable them to meet school costs.

Working children emphasised the need for improved policies and practices which:

- reduce family poverty and give parents access to decent work
- ensure free, quality education for every child and non-discriminatory access to other basic services (including birth registration)
- protect children from hazardous and harmful work and enforce regulations
- improve working conditions and support safe dignified work, where children are in work
- support vocational training that is inclusive of children with disabilities
- prevent and respond to the types of violence affecting girls and boys differently, in families, schools, workplaces and public spaces
- listen to working children and routinely involve them in policy development and implementation.

All information from Time to Talk (2018). Children's views on children's work. Kindernothilfe and Terre des Hommes.

Conflict and humanitarian crises often intensify economic exploitation of children. Child labour in countries affected by armed conflict is estimated to be 77% higher than the global average, and the incidence of hazardous work is 50% higher.⁷⁷ Conflict and disasters are also drivers of trafficking, as children are uprooted and separated from their families.⁷⁸ In Nepal, for example, a recent national report commissioned by child-focused agencies described how the 2015 earthquake increased trafficking, as well as increased out-of-country migration for work.⁷⁹

Detection, reporting and conviction rates for trafficking have risen globally, although it's less clear to what extent this is attributable to a more effective response by governments and public authorities, or a growth in the problem.⁸⁰ The extent to which children are affected varies – in West Africa, children account for a majority of trafficking victims – and there are important gender differences. Child trafficking for sexual exploitation overwhelmingly affects girls, and girls also account for a majority of trafficked children in Latin America.⁸¹ An effective response to child trafficking requires strong collaboration between law enforcement agencies, child protection services, and communities of origin, transit and destination. It also demands that governments and law enforcement agencies give more attention to international collaboration, as growing numbers of children move across national borders.

2.3 Ending violence against children

Violence against children is arguably the area of the CRC where there is the largest gap between aspiration and realisation. In consultations with children across every region of the world, to prepare for the UN Sustainable Development Goals, violence emerged as their most urgent concern, with specific calls to end bullying, labour exploitation, child marriage, child trafficking, corporal punishment, female genital mutilation and cutting, recruitment by armed actors, and violence in schools.⁸² Children consulted for this report underscored the particular importance of efforts to prevent violence in homes and schools.83 Violence against children is complex and difficult to tackle. Firstly, most violence against children is perpetrated within homes and communities, by parents and other adults with a responsibility for their care and wellbeing. By definition, much of what happens in a family setting is out of sight, and there are vigorous debates in many countries about the extent to which government services should intervene in family life where there's a concern that violence is taking place. This is easier to do where the violence in question breaks the ethical codes of the community in which it happens. But it's also true that a lot of violence is deeply rooted in social attitudes and norms that the community upholds, and which take time and effort to change.

Secondly, while much of the violence experienced by children is at the hands of adults, in many cases children are experiencing violence at the hands of other children. For example, in Latin American and the Caribbean, where intentional homicide rates against children – most of them adolescent boys – are the highest in the world, the incidence has risen by 4.5% since 2000.84 A majority of the perpetrators are acquaintances, many of them also in their teenage years.⁸⁵ Less dramatically, but more pervasively, bullying by peers is cited by children around the world as a major concern, with online violence and bullying a growing phenomenon that exposes children to new risks (see box 7).

"Social networks make you lose part of your privacy... we have the right to privacy and the law should protect us in that area"

Jorge*, Spain

Thirdly, violence against children is closely tied to power. Children are often vulnerable because they're physically smaller than the people exercising violence, and because their voice typically counts for less – both in law, and in custom. Children often describe their fears of speaking up, and victims of violence often receive threats to keep silent, and lack knowledge about to whom they can report.⁸⁶

Groups of children who are already marginalised are especially vulnerable to these abuses of power. A WHO 2012 review reported that children with disabilities are 3.7 times more likely than children without disabilities to be victims of violence; and 2.9 times more likely to be victims of sexual violence.⁸⁷ Children with disabilities and very young children are often unaware of their rights and may be physically unable to speak out about abuse.⁸⁸ In India, children from scheduled castes often experience violence at the hands of people from upper castes, often for perceived transgressions such as accessing water from public sources, or participating in religious events.89

BOX 7: VIOLENCE AGAINST CHILDREN IN A DIGITAL WORLD

As access to the internet expands, online violence is a growing concern for children around the world. For example, one in four children in the UK aged 11-16 years have been upset by experiences on social networking sites.⁹⁰ Risks include bullying and discrimination, often with a gender dimension; grooming for sexual exploitation; and sharing of extreme content, including pornography and violent images. Although the relationship between online and offline violence is debated, there is evidence that online abuse creates a permissive atmosphere in which physical violence can be more easily triggered.⁹¹ The UN Special Rapporteur on violence against women launched a recent report on online violence against women and girls, setting standards and guidelines for states on this issue.⁹²

Recent consultations undertaken by ChildFund with more than 5,000 children aged 10-12 years old across 15 countries reveal that children feel least safe on the internet and social networks, and want to play an active role in violence prevention.⁹³

2.4 The dimensions of violence against children

Efforts to tackle violence against children need to start with the understanding that it plays out differently at different stages of a child's life, and for different groups of children. For example, adolescent girls are especially vulnerable to sexual violence, and boys face an increased risk of homicide, while younger children are most exposed to violent discipline in the home.

Typically, violence against children begins in the family: worldwide, 76% of children under

the age of 14 have experienced physical punishment in the home.⁹⁴ Indeed, physical discipline is an accepted norm in many societies, with more than 1 in 4 caregivers globally saying that it is necessary in order to properly raise or educate children.⁹⁵ While there are variations between countries, within countries physical discipline in the home is relatively constant across the sexes, and between different income groups.⁹⁶ Even where it is illegal, attitudes can be slow to shift. More than 15 years after corporal punishment was banned in Germany, 17% of German adults consider a light slap in a child's face to be a legitimate punishment.⁹⁷

Figure 7: Exposure to violence changes during childhood



Data: Know Violence in Childhood 2017

Violence against children often has a close connection to violence against women, and one can normalise the other, where young children witness domestic violence against their mothers. It can also reinforce violence in other institutions, especially schools and nurseries, where treatment of children usually depends on the tacit support of the community. A study in Brazil, by World Vision and Instituto Igarapé, found that 40% of children do not feel safe in school, and 25% suffer or have already suffered threats, or physical or verbal violence.⁹⁸ A similar survey carried out by Save the Children in Peru reported that 45% of adolescent children have seen someone beaten at school.⁹⁹ Despite the evidence that violence in and around schools worsens learning outcomes, and contributes to school drop-out, 69 countries around the world continue to allow teachers to use physical punishment in schools.¹⁰⁰

"Our teachers come to the classroom with a mobile phone in one hand and a cane in the other."

Mehedi*, Bangladesh

Child protection systems in many countries do a poor job of preventing, and responding to cases of violence in home and community settings. In part, this is because they're relatively new, and widely under-funded, but also because such violence is often viewed as being an inevitable, if unfortunate fact of life.¹⁰¹ Protection services are especially weak where children are on the move. Children in humanitarian contexts, who are often unaccompanied and separated from parents, are particularly in need of stronger support, with targeted efforts needed to integrate child protection into emergency preparedness, response, and reconstruction processes, and to manage vulnerable children as they cross national borders.^{102 103}

Shortcomings in

child protection extend to justice systems in many countries. Around the world, children continue to be tried in adult courts; are incarcerated with adults; and lack specialised support or care. Children who live and work on the streets, and children who are separated from their parents, face a higher-than-average risk of police harassment, unfair arrest, detention, and violence.¹⁰⁴ Juvenile justice systems often lack independent advocacy and complaints mechanisms and are poorly resourced.¹⁰⁵

Some important progress has been made in reforming juvenile justice, and applying non-custodial measures. For example, South Africa's Child Justice Law, adopted in 2008, has reduced child detention by about 90%, and in the US, detention rates have gone down by about 50% over the last 20 years.¹⁰⁶ A recent report on children's access to justice across Africa also reports progress, but at the same time identifies serious challenges. These include limited specialisation in justice systems to address the needs of child victims and witnesses; a dependence on NGO-led and privately funded legal aid services in many countries; and barriers to fair treatment for children with disabilities and child victims of sexual offences.¹⁰⁷ In some countries, reforms have gone into reverse. In Brazil, rising violent crime has driven a growing public movement that has successfully campaigned for a reduced age of criminal responsibility.¹⁰⁸ The recent detention of large numbers of children from families linked with 'Islamic State', IS-controlled, in Iraq has led to widespread mistreatment and abuse, while many European governments have publicly questioned the application of established legal norms to citizens who moved to IS controlled territory as children.¹⁰⁹

Sexual violence against children is another area where progress is difficult to gauge. Data are too limited to map trends since 1989, and because of the stigma attached to sexual violence it often goes underreported.¹¹⁰ Yet what evidence exists points to a widespread problem: UNICEF estimates that 15 million adolescent girls aged 15 to 19 have experienced forced sex in their lifetime.¹¹¹ In Sub-Saharan Africa, more than 13% of all women and almost 8% of adolescents 15-19 acknowledged experience of sexual violence.¹¹² Much more needs to be understood about the scale and nature of sexual violence against boys, but available evidence shows that girls face particular risks. This is especially true in conflict settings, with sex widely used as a tool to terrorise and intimidate, including in the violence against Rohingya in Myanmar in 2017, and in the ongoing conflicts in eastern DRC.¹¹³ Post-conflict societies, and societies affected by high levels of violent crime, often also see high levels of sexual violence against children. Colombia is a case in point, with adolescent girls especially affected, and recent rises in reported incidents against very young children, under the age of four.¹¹⁴

The trends are clearer in the case of homicide than for sexual violence: 95,000 children a year – 70% of them boys – are victims of murder. In most parts of the world, children are less likely to be murdered today than at the turn of the century.¹¹⁵ But Latin America and the Caribbean bucks the trend: the region is seeing rates rise, and while being home to only 10% of the world's adolescents, accounts for 50% of child murders.¹¹⁶ "The politicians should invest more in schools and understand there are not only bandits in the slums, there are many children... who want their rights respected."

Laura*, Brazil

The effects of violence in the most murderous societies are often similar to those in conflict zones – children experience trauma and lifelong physical injury; are afraid to go out; and see learning disrupted. In El Salvador, schools are used as recruiting centres for armed gangs, with students and staff dropping out to escape violence: up to 39,000 students dropped out of the public school system due to violence in 2015.117 The violence in Central America's Northern Triangle, with murder rates exceeding those in many conflicts, has also contributed to mass displacement. One recent study calculated that each ten additional murders in the region caused six more children to migrate to the United States, with spikes in violence as the main factor behind child migration.118

The cumulative cost of the violence described here is enormous, on the health of individual children, their emotional and behavioural development, and the ability to form relationships.¹¹⁹ These personal costs have both a societal impact, in terms of loss of trust, social capital and foregone human development, and a huge economic impact. It's estimated that including losses in future productivity, the annual cost of violence against children can be anywhere between 2 and 5% of global GDP.¹²⁰

Reaching the 2030 goals, and realising children's rights, hinges on a massive and sustained reduction in violence against children. The goal of ending violence needs to be pursued in a way that combines relentless pursuit of a long term vision – that of a world in which children are protected, and their rights respected – with clear and realistic plans that deliver effective changes in laws, policies and practice.
2.5 The implementation gap

The CRC has spurred the adoption of new commitments to children, in constitutions, laws and policies. But despite the near-universal ratification of the Convention, the track record of translating these commitments into real and lasting change for children has been uneven.

There are a number of reasons for this implementation gap. One key factor is a lack of sufficient public investment in services that are critically important for children. Most countries fall short on spending the 5-6% of GDP that is widely agreed to be necessary to ensure universal coverage of essential health care. According to the World Bank, government spending on health is just 2.8% of GDP in middle-income countries, and 1.2% in low-income countries. In fact, health spending has fallen in low-income countries since 2005. Nutrition fares similarly poorly, with an estimated \$23.25 billion in additional funding needed annually to tackle the problem by 2030.¹²¹ Global estimates of the funding gap for education, across all developing countries, are \$1.8 trillion a year by 2030.122

Domestic revenues will be the main way in which this investment gap is bridged: in many countries that means broadening and deepening the tax base, ensuring progressive taxation and eliminating opportunities for tax avoidance and evasion.¹²³ According to the Overseas Development Institute, low-income countries have the potential to increase their tax revenues from 17% to 19% of GDP; and middle-income countries from 25% to 30%¹²⁴. International tax avoidance and evasion alone cost developing countries nearly \$1 trillion in 2014.¹²⁵

Foreign aid has a critical role to play in the poorest countries, as a complement to domestic resources. However, there's a frequent gap between donor pledges, commitments and disbursements.¹²⁶ Meanwhile some key sectors are notoriously underfunded. For example, in 2015 interventions to end violence against children accounted for just over 0.1% of total aid.¹²⁷ Fulfilling the promises made in the UNCRC and the SDGs requires governments to invest first in the children who've been most left behind. But most countries' current approach to budgeting is a blunt instrument: classification systems often don't allow allocation and spending on children to be tracked. Together with a lack of disaggregated data on the status of children, this makes it difficult for governments to make informed decisions about where best to direct public spending.

Low government spending on essential services, and spending skewed towards betteroff populations, is particularly damaging for the most disadvantaged families, which have proportionally more children, and fewer resources with which to access alternative private providers.¹²⁸ Where government spending is inadequate, user charges often fill the gap – either as a matter of policy, or as informal payments. These tend to punish the poorest households, with health charges especially – which are difficult to predict and lumpy – a major cause of families being plunged into poverty.¹²⁹

In many countries, delivery of the CRC has been hindered by governments' failure to put in place the mechanisms, institutions and



34 A SECOND REVOLUTION

processes needed to ensure that children's rights are actively considered and supported, when new policy is drafted and implemented. More recently, the World Bank and UNICEF have developed tools that enable countries to undertake child-specific impact assessments of policy reforms.¹³⁰ However, for some of the poorest countries, funding and capacity is a constraint, with children's rights often left as the responsibility of under-resourced ministries of women's and children's welfare that have limited leverage over more powerful parts of government.¹³¹

Data presents further barriers to implementation. Good quality, timely data are critical to tracking progress in realising children's rights, and targeting interventions. Over the last 30 years, there have been major improvements in its collection and publication. Yet major shortcomings persist. A lot of data are only available as national averages, making it difficult to monitor progress for children who've been left behind, and to target interventions to those who most need them.¹³²

Disaggregation by gender, age, disability, locality, ethnicity and care status is increasingly important as many rights violations become more concentrated amongst disadvantaged groups of children. There are other biases in data collection: large-scale surveys tend to gather data from the head of the household and often exclude children's perspectives, as well as failing to count the many highly disadvantaged children who live outside of households, or – as in the case of children with disabilities – are hidden from view.¹³³

Data in national and international statistical systems are still very limited for over half of the child-related indicators for the SDGs.¹³⁴ But a lack of data does not excuse the failure to meet obligations to children. It should instead be a catalyst for improved systems that collect, analyse and apply disaggregated data, and for innovative methods and technologies that help adults to listen regularly to the views of children themselves. These changes need to be implemented in a world that is itself constantly changing, in ways that create new opportunities for children, as well as threats.



Child rights in a changing world



Fulfilling the promises made in the UN CRC hinges on a second child rights revolution. But to be successful, that revolution needs both to respect the unchanging principles that underpin the CRC, and recognise the rapidly changing world in which it needs to be applied.

The power and promise of rights are rooted in their universality and indivisibility. Every child, regardless of place, economic situation, or social background, has the same inalienable claims, and the state has the same fundamental duties. By definition, no one right can be pursued at the expense of another. This is both a moral standpoint, and a common-sense insight. The child who is hungry is unlikely to learn and at increased risk of illness, and the society that tolerates gender-based violence is unlikely to listen to children.

The Convention on the Rights of the Child sets out in four articles the principles that should guide the realisation of rights: on nondiscrimination; on making the best interests of the child the primary consideration in any decision that affects them; on the right to life, survival and development; and the right to freely express views and be heard. In practice, many countries have a patchy track-record of upholding non-discrimination, and of the rights to life, survival, and development. The two other principles, of best interests, and of participation, have been only partially articulated, and poorly implemented. Yet it's these two principles which have the potential to transform the world for children, and fulfil the promise of the CRC.

3.1 Best interests

Some states, including Colombia, Senegal and Mauritania, have taken steps to include the best interests principle in legislation, policies and strategies relating to children.¹³⁵ In 2008, Moldova adopted a regulation on the procedure for the return of victims of human trafficking, smuggled migrants and unaccompanied children. For the first time, it embedded the principle of a child's best interests in procedures governing the repatriation of Moldovan children.¹³⁶ Some international guidelines, such as those from the UN refugee agency, UNHCR are similarly designed to identify best interests and apply these to decision-making.

However, in practice 'best interests' are often vaguely defined, and poorly applied.¹³⁷ For example, recent research in Spain and Germany found that despite improvements in legislation, the precedence of the best interests of the child is rarely mentioned, or respected in legal practice.¹³⁸ In South Sudan, the 2008 Child Act includes a statute on children's best interests but leaves this undefined.¹³⁹ In reality, the Act allows customary laws to hold sway, including those that allow early marriage, and the forced marriage of adolescent girl survivors to the adult male perpetrators of sexual violence as a 'settlement' – having been interpreted as the 'best interest of the child' by traditional iustice holders.¹⁴⁰

"We do not want adults to always act on our behalf without us.... what is for children, but without children, is against us children"

Naserian*, Kenya

The UN Committee on the Rights of the Child has reached similar conclusions, raising concerns that the best interests of the child principle is inconsistently interpreted in courts, and in child-focused institutions, including schools.¹⁴¹ Remaining gaps in legislation and monitoring urgently need addressing, and all institutions working with and for children need to adhere to agreed standards on the best interests of the child and how it is implemented in their work.

3.2 Children's right to be heard

ne of the boldest changes initiated by the UN CRC was the commitment to children's participation in decisions that shape their lives. In the last 30 years, children have become significantly more visible in legislation, policy development and decision-making.142 Since 2014, children are in principle supported to independently report child rights violations outside of their national jurisdiction, although 135 countries have so far neither signed nor ratified the Optional Protocol to the CRC on a Communications Procedure.¹⁴³ At the local level, children are increasingly involved in decision-making in a range of settings, including schools, health facilities, and child- and youth-led organisations.

Attitudes towards children's participation are evolving, especially where children have growing numbers of channels through which to make themselves heard, independent of their parents.¹⁴⁴ Technology is playing a growing part in this shift, as adolescent children especially are organising without the mediation of adults. A growing number of campaign movements, from the school climate strikes initiated by the Swedish schoolgirl Greta Thunberg, to student campaigns on road traffic safety in Bangladesh, and gun control in the USA, reflect this change.¹⁴⁵

Increasingly, this technology is available to children in poorer countries. In 2014, the developing world accounted for more than three-quarters of all mobile phone subscriptions. Mobile services and the internet are used by growing numbers of children to communicate with each other as well as with their peers and families. Digital technology, although it carries new risks for children, can also boost children's rights, giving them access to information and providing platforms for children and young people to mobilise and express their views.

The demand for increasing participation and voice for children was heard in the process to

develop the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals. Consultations carried out by ChildFund found that participation in development came across as one of the strongest aspirations of children: in over a quarter of countries, children said that they wanted to be actively listened to, by adults and decision-makers.¹⁴⁶ Two of the targets that were subsequently adopted in 2015, on ensuring responsive, inclusive, participatory and representative decisionmaking (target 16.7), and on public access to information and protection of fundamental freedoms (target 16.10) provide a foundation for strengthened engagement by children in efforts to achieve the SDGs.

Although data on freedom of association are limited, informal evidence suggests that there are a growing number of child-led organisations and initiatives, including working children's associations, children's councils, and media initiatives by young people.¹⁴⁷ These initiatives are most likely to flourish where there's some level of political decentralisation and local governance is strong; and where civil society organisations have freedom of expression and a history of engagement in rights issues. Child-focused organisations have played a critical role in promoting practical ways for children to be heard in different settings, and in fostering learning about how this can happen safely and meaningfully.

At the international level, space for children's engagement has also expanded. The 2002 Special Session on Children, which reviewed progress since the 1990 World Summit, was the first time that children addressed the UN General Assembly, setting a new benchmark for children's participation in multilateral decision-making. More recently children were extensively involved, through 'The World We Want' consultation, in the shaping of the SDGs, and growing attention has been given to children's experiences as human rights defenders, including by the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child.¹⁴⁸

Yet despite these changes, children – especially children before adolescence – are still widely treated as passive recipients of decisions taken by adults. Barriers exist at every level of society, from a lack of recognition in law and policy; to limited adult capacity to facilitate child participation in safe and meaningful ways; and a lack of access to justice for children needing to challenge violations of their rights.¹⁴⁹

These barriers tend to be biggest where children want to engage in civic action and influence public decision-making. An increasing



number of governments are censoring children's access to information, especially in areas such as sexual health and sexual identity, making it more difficult for children to make informed decisions and avoid discrimination.¹⁵⁰ A recent consultation of over 2,500 children across 53 countries found that children are organising themselves to influence a wide range of issues, including sexual violence, indigenous rights, and conditions for refugees. Yet children also cite concerns about safety, a lack of access to information, and funding constraints.¹⁵¹

Despite the CRC's recognition of children's right to freedom of association and to peaceful assembly, few governments allow legal registration of child-led organisations and networks, and governments, donors and civil society organisations often create bureaucratic obstacles that make it difficult for children's organisations to apply for and manage their own funds. Child-led associations, networks and movements also do not always get the right support from other civil society actors, including international child-focused NGOs. There are examples of children's groups and clubs being manipulated to meet others' ideological agendas, and of children being exposed to risk and abuse.152

Participation can carry other risks for children. Children who speak out can face humiliation and bullying from parents, teachers and peers. In other situations, they can be subjected to serious violence, including at the hands of the state.¹⁵³ The outbreak of the Syrian civil war, sparked by the disappearance, torture and murder of a 13 year-old boy who had protested in public, is just one example of state-sponsored violence against children who exercise their civic rights.¹⁵⁴

Adults, and organisations working with children, have a responsibility to help carefully manage risks to children, in line with their evolving capacity and best interests. Risktaking by adolescents is a normal part of child development, and can be positive, especially when children have supportive relationships with adults.¹⁵⁵ As children get older, adults need to be willing to share more power with children. Increasing children's access to information and involving children in identifying and mitigating risks can be an important part of decisionmaking in a child's best interests.

The increasing reliance on social media and the internet to exchange information and organise is also creating new risks for children. In most countries around the world there is little legal protection of children's right to privacy, creating a risk of surveillance, both by the state and by parents. There are also critical questions for societies, and for policy makers, about children's ability to erase their digital footprint, where it could affect their future education, employment, or personal safety.

Discrimination against already marginalised groups of children can further restrict their ability to participate in decision-making processes, and make themselves heard. For example, in many contexts girls who take on visible leadership roles in communities risk social ostracism.¹⁵⁶ For some groups, including children with disabilities, and children who speak minority languages, states have a particular responsibility to remove barriers to participation.

Removing the obstacles to child participation is an end in itself. But it is also one of the most important keys to unlocking progress towards the 2030 goals. There's clear evidence that children who are able to use their voice and understand their rights are less likely to be exploited, or subjected to violence.¹⁵⁷ And as the unfinished agenda around the Sustainable Development Goals becomes increasingly concentrated amongst structurally disadvantaged populations, only a child rights approach will tackle legal, policy, budgetary and attitudinal barriers to change.

BOX 8: CHILDREN'S VIEWS ON PARTICIPATION



In consultations around the world, children express a common frustration that adults often disregard their views. Children who are members of associations have described the benefits of being organised, supporting one another, and learning about and defending their rights. They have also spoken about the advantages and disadvantages of online information, and the need to protect themselves on social media and the internet.

"If children belong to an association they can give their opinions and give their proposals to those that will help us be listened to, and defend our well-being." (working child, Peru)

"It is one thing to seek children's views before developing a policy or programme, but it's important that children's views are properly incorporated. Children should be involved to monitor if things are going right." (14 year old boy, member of a children's organisation, Bangladesh)

"Spaces for participation, where children are respected by adults, should be promoted, as adults think they are the only ones who are right, and they dismiss children's points of view." (**16-year old girl, Nicaragua**)

All quotes and information taken from national consultations carried out by Joining Forces member organisations as background research for this report



3.3 A changing world – demography, conflict and climate change

A second revolution in child rights needs to happen in a world that is experiencing tectonic changes. When the CRC was adopted in 1989, the world was a very different place. One-third of the global population lived in centrally planned, socialist economies. That global population had only just exceeded 5 billion people. The world's first pocket mobile phone came onto the market, priced at \$3,000.¹⁵⁸ China was the world's 11th largest economy, one place behind Spain.¹⁵⁹

The CRC is now being implemented in a world with a dramatically different demographic profile. At almost 8 billion, today's population is over 50% larger than in 1989. Almost 2 billion of these people are children under the age of 15 – double the number in 1960. However, the share of under-15's in the global population has fallen over the same period, from 35% to 27%. Although projections are within a sizeable margin of error, most predict that with falling fertility rates, the world is on the verge of getting to 'peak child' – the point where the number of children in the world reaches a historical high, and hits a plateau before falling.¹⁶⁰

In principle, achieving the rights of today's cohort of children – especially those rights that rely heavily on public investment – should be easier as their share in total population falls. However, as populations age in many countries, the dependency ratio between those who are economically active and economically dependent isn't necessarily declining, and is instead placing new and different demands on government spending.

Meanwhile the global distribution of children is shifting towards poorer countries. By the end of the century, higher-end projections of Africa's population predict it to be equal to Asia's, at approximately 4.5 billion, with one billion children under the age of 15 living in the region.¹⁶¹ In any scenario, the achievement of child rights in the coming decades will be tested most severely in Africa, where income poverty is deepest, the growth in the child population is rapid, and where state capacity, measured by tax take, is low.

In all regions except for Africa, children today are more likely to live in cities than the countryside. Moves to cities have been accompanied by increasing diversity in the kinds of families in which children are growing up. The proportion of reproductive age adults who are married is declining in almost all regions.¹⁶² A growing number of children are growing up in one-child households, and in smaller households, with the potential to receive more attention and investment from their parents.¹⁶³

Growing elderly populations and increasing migration for work are also leading to growing numbers of children being part-raised by grandparents, or left caring for them: China's generation of 70 million left behind children, living in rural areas without their parents, who've moved to coastal economic hubs, is a case in point.¹⁶⁴ Children without parental care are more vulnerable to exploitation and abuse, are less likely to be in education and have access to essential services, and risk long-term emotional damage.

Children continue to be over-represented amongst the poor, with one-fifth of all children below the age of 5 in the developing world living in extremely poor households.¹⁶⁵ These children face a heightened risk of malnutrition, sickness, school drop-out and work in dangerous or exploitative conditions. Increasingly, extreme poverty is shifting towards Conflict Affected and Fragile States (CAFS). Whereas in 2008 they accounted for 14% of global poverty, this had risen to 23% in 2015.¹⁶⁶ By 2030, it is expected that CAFS' share of poverty will exceed 50%.¹⁶⁷ The rise is mirrored by a steady increase in the number of children living in areas impacted by conflict: In 2017, 1 in 5 children worldwide were affected, a near doubling of the number since 1989.¹⁶⁸ Children in the Middle East are at the greatest risk of exposure to conflict, with 2 in every 5 children living within 50km of a conflict event.169

Just as the drivers of conflict are changing, so too is the conduct of war. Battlefields are no longer clearly defined, and there's been a rise in reports of deliberate targeting of traditional safe spaces such as schools, hospitals and places of worship.¹⁷⁰ Children are increasingly in the frontline: radicalisation of children by armed groups; the use of children as suicide bombers, including in North East Nigeria and Afghanistan; and the killing of children as a result of indiscriminate violence against civilian populations, including through aerial attacks, all pose a growing threat to children's rights.¹⁷¹

The indirect impacts of conflict on children are greater still. An estimated 100,000 infants die annually from conflict-related causes, including hunger, and the collapse of health systems and water supplies.¹⁷² An estimated 12.8 million people in Syria, and 9.7 million in Iraq, have little or no access to basic healthcare – in countries where near-universal coverage of healthcare existed before the outbreak of war.¹⁷³ In Syria, it is estimated that around 2.8 million children – half of all school-aged children – are out of school, one-third of them due to security concerns and two-thirds due to financial hardships, or as a result of child labour and destruction of infrastructure.¹⁷⁴

At the same time that it destroys infrastructure, conflict is forcing millions of children from their homes: in 2017 alone, 17 million children were forcibly displaced due to conflict and violence.¹⁷⁵ It is estimated that 50 million of the world's children have migrated across borders or have been forcibly displaced within their own countries,¹⁷⁶ and the number of people displaced as a result of armed conflict, human rights violations, and climate change has dramatically increased over the past decade.¹⁷⁷

Climate change is part of a set of mutually reinforcing environmental threats - including species extinction, desertification, and pollution of water sources and soils - that are increasingly contributing to crisis, displacement and conflict, even if the causal links aren't fully understood.¹⁷⁸ In many cases, children are first and worst affected by climate-related natural disasters, and by the impact of climate change on food production, disease and access to water.¹⁷⁹ Over 99% of deaths already attributable to climate-related changes occur in developing countries - and children make up over 80% of those deaths.¹⁸⁰ Over half a billion children live in areas with extremely high risk of flooding; 115 million are at high or extremely high risk from tropical cyclones, and almost 160 million are exposed to high or extremely high drought severity.¹⁸¹

Climate change arguably poses the single biggest challenge to the achievement of child rights, and threatens to undo much of the hardwon progress of recent decades to improve the lives of children. Meeting the challenge will demand serious attention to equity, in at least two dimensions. Firstly, richer countries have contributed disproportionately to the problem: the poorest 50% of the world's population contribute just 10% of all carbon emissions.¹⁸² Industrialised countries have a unique responsibility to ensure that the targets set by the UNFCCC are met, and that poorer countries are supported to manage the effects of climate change that are already irreversible. Secondly, climate change raises serious questions about inter-generational justice. Today's children have not made the choices that created the current crisis, but will live with the consequences. Adult decision-makers have a particular responsibility

to ensure that actions are taken now to ensure that a habitable planet and sustainable economy is bequeathed to today's children, and to future generations that have yet to be born.

3.4 Political threats to child rights

At a moment when environmental and demographic changes threaten to undermine the realisation of child rights, the UN CRC is running into growing political headwinds. Civil society space is being squeezed in a growing number of countries, both as a result of formal changes in laws and regulations, and because of more informal pressure. CIVICUS, a civil society network, estimates that civic space is under serious attack in over half of all countries, with a narrowing of space in a number of high-income countries, which have traditionally been seen as champions of civil society.¹⁸³ This is having knock-on effects on children's engagement. Child-focused INGOs in India found that civil society service delivery is less contested, but that activities designed to hold institutions to



account; and to changes policies, laws and structures in support of children are being compromised.¹⁸⁴

International law requires every state to ensure an enabling environment where members of civil society, including children, can function effectively, transparently and independently. These norms are coming under growing challenge at the international level, in the United Nations and other global forums, in ways that threaten to further erode space for child rights at the national level.

The shrinking of space for civil society consultation and participation in multilateral forums is mirrored by some governments' challenge to some of the underlying principles of child rights. Powerful UN member states, including the USA, Russia, Saudi Arabia, China, Turkey and Brazil are challenging more flexible definitions of family, weakening references to gender, and the rights of girls and women in UN documents, and promoting communal rights and the rights of parents in contradistinction to child rights.

For example, a group of member states spearheaded by Russia and Egypt at the UN in Geneva, has worked with traditionalist groups to secure Human Rights Council resolutions on the protection of the family, and treated elements of the CRC as threatening to social stability. Increasingly the child protection agenda has been co-opted by such groups into a narrative based on traditional family values and parental authority.¹⁸⁵

These tensions are a timely reminder that child rights continue to be contested in some quarters, and that some states see accountability for their commitments in the CRC as a challenge to their authority and control. Yet without robust accountability, the gains made for children since 1989 risk being eroded. Completing the agenda begun 30 years ago requires renewed political commitment to the vision of the CRC, by states, and by international institutions, civil society and other influential actors who affect children's lives.

Conclusion A call to action



The Convention on the Rights of the Child was revolutionary at the time of its adoption. Thirty years on, it has lost none of its urgency or relevance. The CRC made children visible as subjects and holders of rights in a new and startling way. It was universal, both in its wide ratification and in its spanning of economic, social, political, civil and cultural rights. It introduced the principle that the best interests of the child should be a primary consideration in all actions affecting children's lives, and that children themselves should play a role in defining those interests. It underscored the inalienability of rights, and the obligation of states – individually and collectively – to realise the rights of every child, without any kind of discrimination.

As this report has shown, the CRC has helped to transform the lives of millions of children, through changes in laws and policies, and social practices. Yet despite that progress, millions of children have been bypassed by a rising tide of prosperity and opportunity, because of who they are, or where they live. This is a moral, legal and economic failure that the world can ill-afford.

The question now is how to translate the formal support for the rights enshrined in the CRC into an irresistible force for change. The Sustainable Development Goals, with their broad approach to economic and social development, and peace, security and environmental sustainability, can be a powerful springboard for implementation of the CRC. But to succeed, the SDGs also need child rights as a central reference point. Action to tackle the new threats of the 21st century, and confront the multiple forms of discrimination that affect children, will happen only where children themselves are able to be agents of change.

Realising the vision of the CRC, and securing the rights of every child, is a formidable challenge. But 2019 has the potential to be a turning point for a number of reasons. First, all states have committed to collaborate on building sustainable societies that "leave no one behind", regardless of age, gender, income, geography, ability or identity. There is now a decade – little over half of the time a child takes to reach adulthood - to meet the goals for 2030. Agility, determination and political courage will be needed to fulfil this promise, in a context of huge social and economic inequalities, widespread violence, and the erosion of some of the recent gains for children.

Secondly, there is a demographic window. While the world holds the largest ever generation of children and young people, children are falling as a share of total population. This should provide an opportunity for governments to respond more effectively to children's needs. Yet there is also a challenge, in that children are increasingly concentrated in the poorest countries, and are disproportionately likely to be poor and deprived of their rights. Failure to secure child rights in the poorest countries, with fast-growing populations of children, risks a ruinous legacy for the next generation.

Thirdly, there is a growing bank of resources to improve the lives of children. The world has more knowledge of how children grow and develop; and technical solutions to respond to children's needs. There are unprecedented financial resources, and new ways of organising and communicating that have the potential to change the future of millions of children.

These opportunities are real, but they can be seized only if the boldest elements of the CRC are delivered. This will require a fundamental shift, in which all children are treated as holders of rights, to whom adults and governments have corresponding obligations. Giving children a real voice, and listening to and heeding their views, will be crucial to progress in areas where it has been most lacking, including violence against children. Change must begin within families and communities – as the proverb has it, it takes a village to raise a child. But space for children's rights relies, in turn, on wider civic rights that allow all people to participate in their societies as active citizens. Other actors, including the private sector, media and religious institutions, need to be able to play their full part in the achievement of these goals and rights.

4.1 Recommendations

Delivering the CRC will require coordinated national and global efforts, led by governments, which take seriously the guiding principles of the UN Convention: the best interests of the child; non-discrimination; the right to life, survival and development, and the right to participate.

It will also demand that governments apply the lessons of the last 30 years, which demonstrate what is possible, even in poorer countries with limited resources, but also point to major shortcomings in current approaches to child rights. Governments, working with other stakeholders, should:



1. Reaffirm political commitment to children's rights by fully embracing the CRC, including its Optional Protocols, without any reservation, and following through on implementation at the

national and local level. Governments should adopt and implement legislation, policies, budgets and programmes of action that are inclusive of all children, and recognise the distinct needs of children at different stages of childhood, and the different experiences of boys and girls. They must identify and address all forms of discrimination and violence that are preventing children from realising their rights, ensuring that the best interests of all children are given primary consideration.



2. Invest today for a sustainable tomorrow: governments should invest in essential services, infrastructure and systems that safeguard the rights of children to an adequate standard of living, health

care, education, family support, safety and protection, and play and recreation, to the maximum extent of available resources. To do this, governments must raise revenues and spending, in a way that promotes the rights of the poorest and most vulnerable children. Governments of wealthier countries should support, in line with their international obligations, the efforts of poorer countries to invest in children. The impact on children's rights should be a litmus test of all public spending, with governments tracking and reporting on public expenditure in ways that are accountable to children.



3. Track and demonstrate progress for all children,

especially those most left behind, by strengthening local and national systems for collection, analysis and dissemination of highquality data. Data should be disaggregated by

age, sex, and other dimensions of inequality. It should also be analysed and applied alongside qualitative data, including systematic feedback from children and families. Governments should monitor progress against the full range of children's rights, including those where major data gaps currently exist; and ensure that data includes groups of children – including stateless children, refugees, and children with disabilities – who are often excluded. Governments should regularly report on progress through publicly accessible products; and provide regular reports to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, and other international and regional human rights bodies.



4. Listen and respond to children by making sure that all children, responsive to their age and capabilities, know and understand their rights; have the space to regularly and safely express their views and needs; and

receive full responses on how their views have been taken into account. Governments should work with civil society to support children's participation and voice at the family and community level, recognising that it is a right that must be respected and fulfilled, and uphold the rights to freedom of expression and opinion, and to peaceful assembly and association, and access to information.

46 A SECOND REVOLUTION



5. Make national commitments now that will be game changers for the lives of children over the next decade:

Apply a child rights approach to Agenda 2030, ensuring that no child is left behind, by adopting laws, policies and budgets that promote gender equality, and create convergence between the poorest and most marginalised children and their better-off counterparts, while building universal coverage of services, systems and infrastructure.

Adopt time-bound plans to end violence against children, in line with SDG target 16.2 and other targets related to violence, where necessary passing laws, investing in child protection systems, and working with civil society – including children's organisations - to change attitudes and behaviours that expose children to violence.

Ensure effective enforcement of laws and policies designed to end violence against children, including systems to investigate and prosecute violations against children; and continued strengthening of international mechanisms to protect children, including the UN MRM.

Urgently address the global climate crisis and environmental threats in a way that safeguards children's rights, by meeting existing international obligations on climate change; taking steps to decarbonise economies and mitigate already irreversible impacts; and by assessing environmental impacts on children and young people and engaging them fully in strategies to meet environmental challenges.

Prioritise strategic windows of opportunity in early childhood and adolescence, through policies and budgets, supporting interventions in nutrition, play, education, health and protection that yield lifelong individual and societal benefits, and break the intergenerational transmission of poverty and exclusion.

~

Educate to achieve children's rights, by investing in universal coverage of quality education at primary and secondary levels, and through education systems promoting civic engagement, and human rights education.

Notes

¹ https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-survival/under-five-mortality/

² https://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/pdf/Goal_4_fs.pdf

³ https://www.sdg4education2030.org/new-education-data-sdg4-focus-out-school-children-27-september-2018

⁴ https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.0014.TO?end=2017&start=1989

⁵ https://www.who.int/gho/child_health/mortality/mortality_under_five_text/en/

⁶ World Bank. 2018. World Development Report 2018: Learning to Realize Education's Promise. Washington, DC: World Bank. doi:10.1596/978-1-4648-1096-1. License: Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 3.0 IGO ⁷ FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO. 2018. The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2018.

Building climate resilience for food security and nutrition. Rome, FAO.

⁸ https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/sh.dyn.mort

⁹ https://www.who.int/gho/child_health/mortality/mortality_under_five_text/en/

¹⁰ McArthur, J and Rasmussen, K, How successful were the Millennium Development Goals?, Brookings Institute, Blog, 11 January 2017

¹¹Kenny, C. Getting Better. 2011, Basic Books; https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/sp.dyn.imrt. in?end=2015&start=1960&view=chart

¹² Ibid

¹³ Data in this section from United Nations Millennium Development Goals Report 2015

¹⁴ https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/sp.dyn.tfrt.in?end=2017&start=1989

¹⁴ https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/se.prm.nenr?end=2015&start=1989

¹⁶ https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SE.ADT.1524.LT.FE.ZS?end=2015&start=1989&view=chart

¹⁷ https://en.unesco.org/gem-report/sites/gem-report/files/regional_overview_SSA_en.pdf

¹⁸ https://www.sdg4education2030.org/new-education-data-sdg4-focus-out-school-children-27-september-2018

¹⁹ Michael Freeman, ed, The Future of Children's Rights, Brill/Nijhoff, p.5.

²⁰ See States Parties to the Convention here: http://indicators.ohchr.org/

²¹ UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, General Comment No. 3 (2003) on General measures of implementation of the Convention on the Rights of the Child (arts. 4, 42 and 44, para 6)

²² Global report 2018: Progress towards ending corporal punishment of children Published January 2019 by the Global Initiative to End All Corporal Punishment of Children.

²³ UNICEF (2014). Ending Child Marriage, Progress and Prospects, accessed at https://www.unicef.org/ media/files/Child_Marriage_Report_7_17_LR..pdf; and https://www.girlsnotbrides.org/wp-content/ uploads/2016/05/Child-marriage-and-humanitarian-crises-June-2016.pdf

²⁴ Save the Children (2018). Still Left Behind? Tracking children's progress against the pledge to leave no one behind accessed at:

https://www.savethechildren.org.uk/content/dam/gb/reports/policy/still-left-behind-low-res.pdf²⁵ https://data.unicef.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Child-Marriage-Data-Brief.pdf

²⁶ Ngianga-Bakwin, K, et al, Secular trends in the prevalence of female genital mutilation/cutting among girls: a systematic analysis BMJ Global Health Volume 3, issue 5 2018

²⁷ https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@dcomm/documents/publication/ wcms_575541.pdf

²⁸ https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2017/10/yemen-un-downplays-<mark>saudi-arabia-led-coalitions-</mark>crimes-against-children/

²⁹ Child Soldiers International, February 2019; IISS 2018, Child Soldiers in Armed Conflict, Armed Conflict Survey 2018

³⁰ UNICEF (2013). Child Info: Monitoring the situation of children and women. Online database - orphan estimates, and UNICEF (2016). State of the world's children 2016: A fair chance for every child. New York: UNICEF. (p. 133) and.

³¹ Know Violence in Childhood. 2017. Ending Violence in Childhood. Global Report 2017. Know Violence in Childhood. New Delhi, India

³² Ministry of Labour, Romania (2018). Statistics on Children's Rights Protection and Adoptions, Trim. II 2018, p.8.

³³ World Bank, ANPDCA, UNICEF (2016). Copiii din sistemul de protectie a copilului, p. 36. Report in Joining Forces (2019). CRN National Report Romania.

³⁴ Petrowski, N., Cappa, C., & Gross, P. (2017). Estimating the number of children in formal alternative care:
 Challenges and results. Child Abuse & Neglect 70 (2017) 388–398.
 ³⁵ Ibid

³⁶ SOS (2017). Towards the right care for children: Orientations for reforming alternative care systems Africa, Asia, Latin America

³⁷ Ibid

³⁸ https://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/91/6/12-111351/en/

³⁹ https://www.economist.com/middle-east-and-africa/2019/02/21/how-africa-is-creating-welfare-states
 ⁴⁰ see, for example https://www.unicef.org/esaro/Social_Cash_Transfer_Publication_ESARO_
 December_2015.pdf

⁴¹ https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/12427.pdf

⁴² Ibid

⁴³ Save the Children (2018) Still Left Behind? Tracking children's progress against the pledge to leave no one behind

⁴⁴ Bommer, C, et al, How socioeconomic status moderates the stunting-age relationship in low-income and middle-income countries, BMJ Global Health Volume 4, issue 1 2019

⁴⁵ Alkire, S, et al, Children's Multidimensional Poverty: Disaggregating the global MPI, Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, Briefing 46, May 2017

⁴⁶ https://www.tellmaps.com/uis/gender/#!/tellmap/-1195952519; UNESCO (2016) Global Education Monitoring Report: Gender Review

⁴⁷ https://data.unicef.org/topic/gender/gender-disparities-in-education/

⁴⁸ Human Rights Watch (2018). Leave No Girl Behind in Africa: Discrimination in Education against Pregnant Girls and Adolescent Mothers; Plan International (2018) It's Not Normal: Sexual Exploitation, Harassment and Abuse in Secondary Schools in Senegal; and Plan International/Because I am a Girl (2014). Hear Our Voices: Do Adolescent Girls' Issues Really Matter?

⁴⁹ https://www.icrw.org/child-marriage-facts-and-figures/

⁵⁰ UNESCO (2016) eAtlas of Gender equality in education, accessed at: https://www.tellmaps.com/uis/gender/#!/tellmap/-1195952519

⁵¹ https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-pregnancy

⁵² Plan International (2016). https://plan-international.org/press-releases/un-and-plan-international-globalaction-for-girls

⁵³ Levtov, R, N van der Gaag, M Greene, M Kaufman, G and Barker (2015) 'State of the World's Fathers: A MenCare Advocacy Publication'. Washington, DC: Promundo, Rutgers, Save the Children, Sonke Gender Justice, and the MenEngage Alliance

⁵⁴ https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1414751/

⁵⁵ https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000262714

⁵⁶ Ibid

⁵⁷ Jones, L., Bellis, M.A., Wood, S., Hughes, K., McCoy, E., Eckley, L., Bates, G., Mikton, C., Shakespeare, T., Officer, A. (2012) 'Prevalence and risk of violence against children with disabilities: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies'. The Lancet, Vol. 380,No. 9845 ⁵⁸ WHO (2018) Disability and Health Fact Sheet accessed at: http://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/disability-and-health

⁵⁹ UNESCO (2016) Global Education Monitoring Report

⁶⁰ UNESCO (2014) Global Education Monitoring Report

⁶¹ https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-lgbt-teen-suicide/lgbt-youth-at-higher-risk-for-suicide-attemptsidUSKCN1MI1SL

⁶² Menezes, N. Aranha, D. Magalhaes, P. and Sinesi, L. 2019. Brazil Child Rights Progress Report, commissioned by Child Rights Now!

⁶³ Save the Children (2015). LGBT Young People in Vietnam, accessed at: https://resourcecentre.
 savethechildren.net/node/9663/pdf/lgbt_young_people_in_vietnam_-_save_the_childrens_report.pdf
 ⁶⁴ Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (2012) Report to the Human Rights Council on the

protection and promotion of the rights of children working and/or living on the street

⁶⁵ https://www.pwc.in/assets/pdfs/publications/urban-child/urban-child-india-report.pdf

⁶⁶ Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (2012) Report to the Human Rights Council on the protection and promotion of the rights of children working and/or living on the street

⁶⁷ Save the Children (2018). Time to Act: providing refugee children the education they were promised ⁶⁸ Save the Children (2013). Pushing the boundaries: A guide to increasing the realisation of children's civil rights and freedoms.

⁶⁰ Save the Children (2018). Still left behind? Tracking children's progress against the pledge to leave no one behind

⁷⁰ https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/FFM-Myanmar/A_HRC_39_64.pdf; http://ec.europa.eu/echo/files/aid/countries/factsheets/rohingya_en.pdf

⁷¹ Save the Children (2016). Every Last Child: the children the world chooses to forget

⁷² ILO (2017). Global estimates of child labour results and trends 2012-2016.

⁷³ Ibid `

⁷⁴ ILO (2017). Ending child labour by 2025: A review of policies and programmes.

⁷⁵ Time to Talk (2018). Children's views on children's work. Kindernothilfe and Terre des Hommes ⁷⁶ Ibid

⁷⁷ ILO (2017). Global estimates of child labour results and trends 2012-2016.

⁷⁸ UNODC (2018). Global report on trafficking in persons 2018.

⁷⁹ Joining Forces (2019). CRN National Report Nepal

⁸⁰ UNODC (2018). Global report on trafficking in persons 2018.

⁸¹ Ibid.

⁸² ChildFund Alliance (2014). The free charters: Children's priorities for the post-2015 development agenda; Plan International, Save the Children and Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Violence against Children (2014). Why Children's Protection from Violence should be at the Heart of the Post-2015 Development Agenda A Review of Consultations on the ost-2015 Development Agenda.

⁸³ Know Violence in Childhood (2017). Ending Violence in Childhood. Global Report 2017. Know Violence in Childhood. New Delhi, India; Pells, K. and V. Morrow (2017). "Children's Experiences of Violence: Evidence from Ethiopia, India, Peru and Vietnam." Background paper. Ending Violence in Childhood Global Report 2017. Know Violence in Childhood. New Delhi, India.

⁸⁴ WHO Global Health Estimates reported in Save the Children (2019). Technical Note Quantitative data on child rights.

⁸⁵ BMJ Paediatrics (2017) Child homicide perpetrators worldwid<mark>e:</mark> a systematic review accessed at https:// bmjpaedsopen.bmj.com/content/1/1/e000112

⁸⁶ Pinheiro P. S. (2006). World report on violence against children. New York: United Nations Secretary-General's study on violence against children; Reilly, A. (2014). Adolescent girls' experiences of violence in school in Sierra Leone and the challenges to sustainable change, Gender & Development, 22:1, 13-29. ⁸⁷ WHO (2011). Global Burden of Disease estimates cited in World Health Organization/The World Bank,

World Report on Disability, World Health Organization, 2011, p. 36.

⁸⁸ Save the Children and Handicap International (2011). Out from the Shadows: Sexual Violence Against Children with Disabilities. London: Save the Children.

⁸⁹ BOND (2019). Caste and Development: tackling work and descent-based discrimination to achieve the SDGS for all; International Dalit Solidarity Network (2018). Summary of HRW, Amnesty International and US state department reports, accessed at: https://www.bond.org.uk/sites/default/files/resource-documents/ bond_caste_reportscreen.pdf

⁹⁰Lilley, C., Ball, R. and Vernon, H. (2014). The experience of 11-16 year olds on social networking sites. NSPCC.

⁹¹ Know Violence in Childhood (2017). Ending Violence in Childhood. Global Report 2017. Know Violence in Childhood. New Delhi, India

⁹² UN Human Rights Council (2018). A/HRC/38/47. Report of the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences on online violence against women and girls from a human rights perspective

⁹³ ChildFund Alliance, EDUCO (2019): Small Voices Big Dreams [First Global Stats/Trends].

⁹⁴ UNICEF (2017). A familiar face: Violence in the lives of children and adolescents.

⁹⁵ UNICEF (2017). A familiar face: Violence in the lives of children and adolescents.

⁹⁶ UNICEF (2018). Progress for every child.

 ⁹⁷ Witt, A, K.P. Rodens and J.M Fegert, The Cycle of Violence: Examining Attitudes Toward and Experiences of Corporal Punishment in a Representative German Sample Journal of Interpersonal Violence Vol. 25 2017
 ⁹⁸ World Vision and Instituto Igarapé (2016) study in Joining Forces (2019). CRN National Report Brazil
 ⁹⁹ Young Voice Peru survey, made by Save the Children during July and September 2017 In Joining Forces (2019). CRN National Report Peru.

¹⁰⁰ Know Violence in Childhood. (2017). Ending Violence in Childhood. Global Report 2017. Know Violence in Childhood. New Delhi, India; Hang Nguyen Thi Thu and Tran Ngo, Thi Minh Tam (2013) School Violence Evidence from Young Lives in Vietnam, Vietnam Policy Paper 1; Leach, F., Slade, E. and Dunne, M. (2013). Promising Practice in School-Related Gender-Based Violence (SRGBV) Prevention and Response Programming Globally. Report commissioned for Concern Worldwide. Dublin, Concern Worldwide. Gershoff, E. 2017. School Corporal Punishment in global perspective: prevalence, outcomes and efforts at intervention in Journal of Psychology, Health and Medicine

¹⁰¹ Know Violence in Childhood. (2017). Ending Violence in Childhood. Global Report 2017. Know Violence in Childhood. New Delhi, India.

¹⁰² Gauer Bermudez, L., Williamson, K., & Stark, L. (2018). Setting global research priorities for child protection in humanitarian action. Results from an adapted CHNRI exercise.; Plan International (2018). Position paper: The rights of children and young people to live free from violence.

¹⁰³ Inter-agency group on Children on the Move (2012). Joint Statement of the Inter-Agency Group on Children on the Move to the UN CRC Committee. Day of General Discussion.

¹⁰⁴ Joining Forces (2019). CRN National Report Uganda; Consortium of Street Children (2011). State of the World's Street Children. Author: Sarah Thomas de Benitez.

¹⁰⁵ Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Violence against Children (2015) Safeguarding the rights of girls in the criminal justice system Preventing violence, stigmatization and deprivation of liberty. Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Violence against Children New York.

¹⁰⁶ Becker, J. (2017). Campaigning for children: strategies for advancing children's rights. Stanford University Press.

¹⁰⁷ ACPF (2018). Spotlighting the Invisible: Justice for children in Africa. Addis Ababa: The African Child Policy Forum.

¹⁰⁸ Joining Forces (2019). CRN National Report Brazil

¹⁰⁹ Human Rights Watch (2019). Everyone Must Confess: Abuses against Children of ISIS Affiliation in Iraq; BBC News 15 Feb 2019 'Shamima Begum: How do countries deal with people returning from IS?' at https:// www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-47252164

¹¹⁰ UNICEF (2014). Hidden in plain sight: A statistical analysis of violence against children.

¹¹¹ UNICEF DATA. Sexual Violence. https://data.UNICEF.org/topic/child-protection/violence/sexual-violence/

¹¹² Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) reported in Save the Children (2019). Technical Note: Quantitative data on child rights.

¹¹³ https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/FFM-Myanmar/A_HRC_39_64.pdf; https:// www.securitycouncilreport.org/atf/cf/%7B65BFCF9B-6D27-4E9C-8CD3-CF6E4FF96FF9%7D/s_2018_250. pdf

¹¹⁴ Joining Forces (2019). CRN National Report Colombia

¹¹⁵ Stöckl H, Dekel B, Morris-Gehring A, et al, Child homicide perpetrators worldwide: a systematic review, BMJ Paediatrics Open 2017;1:e000112. doi: 10.1136/bmjpo-2017-000112

¹¹⁶ https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-protection/violence/violent-deaths/

¹¹⁷ https://www.unocha.org/fr/story/according-need-humanitarian-responses-violence-central-america ¹¹⁸ https://www.cgdev.org/blog/root-causes-child-migration-central-america-safety-vs-opportunity

¹¹⁹ Know Violence in Childhood. (2017). Ending Violence in Childhood. Global Report 2017. Know Violence in Childhood. New Delhi, India; Leach, F., Slade, E. and Dunne, M. (2013). Promising Practice in School-Related Gender-Based Violence (SRGBV) Prevention and Response Programming Globally. Report commissioned for Concern Worldwide. Dublin, Concern Worldwide; Pinheiro P. S. (2006). World report on violence against children. New York: United Nations Secretary-General's study on violence against children. ¹²⁰ Pereznieto, P., A. Montes, S. Routier, and L. Langston (2014). The costs and economic impact of violence against children. London: ChildFund Alliance.

¹²¹ Save the Children (2019), Follow the money: Equitably financing child survival.

¹²² Education Commission (2016), The Learning Generation: Investing in education for a changing world
 ¹²³ Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (paragraph 8) & the Addis Ababa
 Action Agenda of the Third International Conference on Financing for Development (paragraph 7)

¹²⁴ Manuel, M., Desai, H., Samman, E., Evans, M (2018), Financing the end of extreme poverty, ODI
 ¹²⁵ Global Financial Integrity (2017), Illicit Financial Flows to and from Developing Countries: 2005-2014
 ¹²⁶ Save the Children (2018), Financing the Sustainable Development Goals: Putting the children who are

furthest behind first

¹²⁷ ChildFund Alliance, Save the Children, SOS Children's Villages International, World Vision International, and Development Initiatives (2017), Counting Pennies: A review of official development assistance to end violence against children

¹²⁸ Save the Children (2018), Financing the Sustainable Development Goals: Putting the children who are furthest behind first

¹²⁹ See for example, https://www.younglives.org.uk/sites/www.younglives.org.uk/files/YL-

WP59-Barnett-HealthcareFinancingInEthiopia.pdf and http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/640121513095868125/Tracking-universal-health-coverage-2017-global-monitoring-report

¹³⁰ https://www.childimpact.unicef-irc.org/en/psia-cria/child-centered-psias-unicef-world-bank-guidance-note ¹³¹ https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/2422.pdf and https:// www.unicef.org/esa/sites/unicef.org.esa/files/2018-09/UNICEF-South-Africa-2017-Political-Economy-Analysis.pdf

¹³² Save the Children (2010). A Fair Chance at Life: why equity matters for child mortality.

¹³³ German, T. and J. Randall (2017). Delivering Results to Leave No One Behind: a discussion paper for the Results Community OECD workshop. Development Initiatives.

¹³⁴UNICEF (2016). Is Every Child Counted? Status of data for children in the SDGs, accessed at http://sdg. org.ua/images/Does_Every_Child_Count_Brochure_-0914201<mark>6.pd</mark>f

¹³⁵ See Concluding Observations of the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child: Colombia (2015) CRC/C/ COL/CO/4-5; Senegal (2016): CRC/C/SEN/CO/3-5; Mauritania (2018): CRC/C/MRT/CO/3-5

¹³⁶ Jacqueline Bhabha and Mike Dottridge Assisted by Amy Hong (2017): Child Rights in the Global Compacts https://refugeesmigrants.un.org/sites/default/files/stocktaking_initiative_on_child_rights_in_the_global_ compacts.pdf

¹³⁷ KidsRights Index 2018 https://www.kidsrightsindex.org/

¹³⁸ University CEU Cardenal Herrera (2017). The Assessment And Determination Of The Best Interests Of The Child In The Spanish Criminal, Administrative And Civil Courts; Joining Forces (2019): CRN National Report Spain); Joining Forces (2019): CRN National Report Germany ¹³⁹ Sudan: Child Act, 2008 (Southern Sudan) [Sudan], 13 October 2008, available at: https://www.refworld. org/docid/49ed840c2.html [accessed 10 April 2019]

¹⁴⁰What Works to Prevent Violence (2017). No Safe Place: A Lifetime of Violence for Conflict-Affected Women and Girls in South Sudan https://www.rescue.org/sites/default/files/document/2293/southsudanlgonline.pdf ¹⁴¹Concluding Observations of the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child for Senegal (2016): CRC/C/ SEN/CO/3-5

¹⁴² KidsRights Index 2014

¹⁴³ https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/CRC/OHCHR_Map_CRC-OP-IC.pdf

144 KidsRights Index 2018

¹⁴⁵ https://oxfamblogs.org/fp2p/what-can-we-learn-from-campaigns-run-by-the-worlds-children-and-young-people/

¹⁴⁶ ChildFund Alliance (2014): The Free Charters Report: Children's Priorities SDGs; also see https://www. childrightsconnect.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/DGD-REPORT_WEB_en_def_web.pdf

¹⁴⁷ See for example https://icscentre.org/tag/global-perspectives/

¹⁴⁸ Child Rights Connect and Queen's University Belfast (2018). Children Human Rights Defenders: The views, perspectives and recommendations of children across the world.

¹⁴⁹ KidsRights Index 2018

¹⁵⁰ CRIN (2014). Censorship: laws restricting children's access to information, accessed at https://archive.crin. org/en/library/publications/censorship-laws-restricting-childrens-access-information.html

¹⁵¹Queen's University Belfast and Save the Children (2016). Enabling the exercise of civil and political rights: The views of children.

¹⁵² Ratna, K. et al. (2012). Strategic review to support child clubs, Nepal 2011 – 2012.

¹⁵³ CIVICUS and Save the Children (2017). Peers and partners: empowering children to take civic action; Queen's University Belfast and Save the Children (2016). Enabling the exercise of civil and political rights: The views of children.

¹⁵⁴ https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/world-middle-east-22140807/syria-the-boys-who-helped-spark-a-revolution

¹⁵⁵ UNICEF (2018). A conceptual framework for measuring outcomes on adolescent participation.

¹⁵⁶OHCHR (2019). UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights Defenders' report on Women Human Rights Defenders, access at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/issues/women/wrgs/pages/hrdefenders.aspx accessed on 27.03.19

¹⁵⁷ Save the Children & Lancaster University (2016). Children, young people and flooding: recovery and resilience; IDS (2009). A right to participate: Securing children's role in climate change adaptation; Young Lives (2012). Children's experiences and perspectives of poverty in Ethiopia. Working paper No.85.
¹⁵⁸ http://www.tccohio.com/blog/telephone-technology

¹⁵⁹ http://en.classora.com/reports/t24369/general/ranking-of-the-worlds-richest-countries-by-gdp?edition=1989

¹⁶⁰ https://ourworldindata.org/peak-child

¹⁶¹ Ibid

¹⁶² Child Trends (2015). World Family Map 2015. Mapping family change and child well-being outcomes.
 ¹⁶³ https://www.economist.com/special-report/2019/01/03/in-the-middle-ages-there-was-no-such-thing-as-childhood

¹⁶³ https://www.economist.com/leaders/2015/10/15/pity-the-children

¹⁶⁴ UNICEF/World Bank 2016. Ending Extreme Poverty: a Focus on Children. https://data.UNICEF.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/09/Ending_Extreme_Poverty_A_Focus_on_Children_Oct_2016.pdf

¹⁶⁵ https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/BLS18234_BRO_book_006.1_CH4.pdf ¹⁶⁶ https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/fragilityconflictviolence/overview

¹⁶⁷ PRIO'S calculation based on UCDP GED dataset, gridded population of the world v4, (ciesin, 2016) and World Population Prospects (UN, 2017) in Save the Children (2019): Stop the War on Children: Protecting Children in 21st Century Conflict.

¹⁶⁸ PRIO Conflict Trends (2018): Children Affected By Armed Conflict, 1990-2016

¹⁶⁹ https://childrenandarmedconflict.un.org/the-changing-nature-of-conflict/

¹⁷⁰ https://childrenandarmedconflict.un.org/the-changing-nature-of-conflict/

¹⁷¹ https://childrenandarmedconflict.un.org/the-changing-nature-of-conflict/

¹⁷² Save the Children (2019): Stop the War on Children: Protecting Children in 21st Century Conflict.

¹⁷³ https://www.unescwa.org/sites/www.unescwa.org/files/publications/files/the_drivers_and_impact_of_

conflict_on_the_sustainable_development_agenda_in_the_arab_region_0.pdf ¹⁷⁴ lbid

¹⁷⁵ https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-migration-and-displacement/migration/

¹⁷⁶ UNICEF (2016). Uprooted: The growing crisis for refugee and migrant children.

¹⁷⁷ European Union (2017). 10 trends shaping migration.

¹⁷⁸ European Scientist (2019). 'Abel, G.J., et al. Climate, conflict and forced migration. Global Environmental Change (2019). DOI: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2018.12.003' in The Link Between Climate Change, Conflict and Migration

¹⁷⁹ UNIČEF Innocenti (2014). The challenge of climate change: Children in the front line. ¹⁸⁰ Ibid

¹⁸¹Committee on the Rights of the Child (2016): Report Of The 2016 Day of General Discussion: Children's Rights and the Environment.

¹⁸²Oxfam (2015). Extreme Carbon Inequality: Why the Paris climate deal must put the poorest, lowest emitting and most vulnerable people first

¹⁸³ CIVICUS (2018). State of Civil Society Report 2018

¹⁸⁴ Joining Forces (2019). CRN National Report India

¹⁸⁵ https://www.awid.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/rights-at-risk-ours-2017.pdf





Joining Forces: Child Rights Now! country members:

Bangladesh: Joining Forces members: Education and Development Foundation – Educo – Member of Child Fund Alliance; Plan International Bangladesh; SOS Children's Villages Bangladesh; Terre des Homes Italia; Terre des Homes Lausanne; Terre des Homes Netherlands; Save the Children International; and World Vision Bangladesh, with the support of: Foundation for Disaster Forum; Brazil: Joining Forces members: ChildFund Brazil; Plan International Brazil; SOS Children's Villages International; Terre des Hommes International Federation; and World Vision International, with the support of: Ideario Consultoria and Enfoque Social; Cambodia: Joining Forces members: ChildFund Alliance; Plan International Cambodia; Save the Children International; SOS Children's Villages Cambodia; Terre des Hommes Netherlands; and World Vision International Cambodia; Colombia: Joining Forces members: Fundación Plan Colombia; Save the Children International; SOS Children's Villages; Terre des Hommes; and World Vision, with the support of: Alianza por la niñez Colombiana; Germany: Joining Forces members: ChildFund Deutschland e.V.; Plan International e.V.; Save the Children Deutschland e.V.; SOS-Kinderdörfer weltweit, Hermann-Gmeiner-Fonds Deutschland e.V,; Terre des Hommes Deutschland e.V.; and World Vision Deutschland e.V., with the support of: Human Rights Consultancy and Training; Guatemala: Joining Forces members: ChildFund Guatemala; EDUCO – Guatemala; Plan International Guatemala; Save the Children International; and World Vision Guatemala; India: Joining Forces members: ChildFund India; Plan India; Save the Children, India; SOS Children's Villages of India; Terre des Hommes Germany – India Programme; Terre des Hommes, International Federation; and World Vision India, with the support of: IMPACT Partners in Social Development; Mahita; and Prasoon, partner of Terre des Hommes Germany – India Programme; Kenya: Joining Forces members: ChildFund Kenya; Plan International Kenya; Save the Children International; SOS Children's Villages Kenya; Terre des Hommes; and World Vision Kenya; Mali: Joining Forces members: Educo; Plan International; Save the Children International; SOS Children's Villages International; Terre des Hommes International Federations; and World Vision International, with the support of: Coalition des ONG Africaines en Faveur des enfants; and Coalition Malienne des Droits de l'Enfant; Nepal: Joining Forces members: ChildFund Japan-Nepal Office; Plan International Nepal; Save the Children International; SOS Children's Villages Nepal; Terre des Tommes Germany; Terre des Hommes Foundation; and World Vision International Nepal, with the support of: Himalaya Secondary School and College Kathmandu; Institute for Legal Research and Consultancy, Lazimpat; and Koteshwor Saraswoti Secondary School Kathmandu; Peru: Joining Forces members: Aldeas Infantiles SOS Perú; Federación Internacional de Terre des Hommes; Plan International; Save the Children International; and World Vision Perú, with the support of: Cooperativa Agraria Agrobosque; Organización de niñas, niños y adolescentes "Yo también tengo algo que decir"; and Alianza Nacional de líderes de Transformación Analit; Philippines: Joining Forces members: ChildFund Philippines; EDUCO Philippines; Plan International Philippines; Save the Children International; SOS Children's Villages Philippines; Terre des Hommes – Germany; Terre des Hommes - The Netherlands; and World Vision Philippines, with the support of: Anna Malindog-Uy; Council for the Welfare of Children; Irene Fonacier-Fellizar; Juvenile Justice and Welfare Council; National Economic and Development Authority; and Philippine National Police; Romania: Joining Forces members: Save the Children Romania; SOS Children's Villages Romania; Terre des Tommes Romania; and World Vision Romania, with the support of: Diana Onu; and Irina Pop; Senegal: Joining Forces members: ChildFund; EDUCO; Federation Terre des Hommes; Plan International Senegal; Save the Children International; SOS Children's Villages Senegal; World Vision Senegal, with the support of: AJS; CONAFE; and ERA GROUP CONSULTING; Spain: Joining Forces members: Aldeas Infantiles SOS de España; Educo miembro de ChildFund Alliance; Plan International; Save the Children Spain; and World Vision, with the support of: Plataforma de Organizaciones de Infancia; Uganda: Joining Forces members: ChildFund International – Uganda Country office; Plan International – Uganda Country Office; Save the Children International – Uganda Country Office; SOS Children's Villages – Uganda; Terres des Hommes; World Vision International – Uganda Country office, with the support of: Action for Children; Christian Child Care Program – Mbale; Concern for the Girl Child; Development Links; Dwelling Places; Free Child Uganda; Parenting Uganda; The AfriChild Centre; Uganda Child Rights NGO Network; Uganda Parliamentary Forum for Children; Uganda Society for Disabled Children; and Uganda Youth Development links; and Zambia: Joining Forces members: ChildFund Alliance; Plan International; Save the Children International; SOS Children's Villages International; Terre des Hommes International Federations; and World Vision International, with the support of: Renavatio Business Services Limited.







Save the Children



Terre des Hommes International Federation

